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Statement of Related Cases 

 There are no prior or related appeals. 
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Glossary 

USEIP. United States Election Integrity Plan is an 

unincorporated association founded in November 2020 in response 

to false claims of fraud during the 2020 presidential election. It was 

an original defendant in this case. 
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Statement of Jurisdiction 

This is an appeal from a final judgment of the district court 

entered on July 18, 2024. The plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal in 

the district court 29 days later. (App. 224.) This Court therefore has 

jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1291. 

The district court had subject-matter jurisdiction because this 

case presents federal questions. 28 U.S.C. § 1331.  
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Statement of the Issues 

 1. Can unincorporated associations be sued for voter 

intimidation and attempted voter intimidation under the Voting 

Rights Act or the Ku Klux Klan Act? 

 2. Did the district court abuse its discretion when, without 

explanation, it excluded a key video of a defendant speaking about 

USEIP’s canvassing efforts at a large public gathering and stating 

that anyone involved in election fraud “deserves to hang”?  

 3. Is the district court’s finding that the canvassers who 

questioned a key witness “engaged in no conduct that could be 

objectively considered intimidating” clearly erroneous or based on 

the wrong legal standard?  

 4. By refusing to consider the context in which challenged 

acts of voter intimidation and attempted voter intimidation 

occurred, did the district court apply the wrong legal standard to 

the plaintiffs’ claims? 
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Introduction 

This case arises from a voter intimidation campaign launched 

after the 2020 presidential election by an organized group of 

election deniers. The defendants, armed with badges and weapons, 

went door-to-door across Colorado, interrogating voters about their 

participation in the 2020 election, pressing them for information on 

their method of voting, photographing their homes, and sometimes 

accusing them of outright voter fraud. They later publicized their 

“findings” and threatened severe consequences for anyone they 

believed to be involved in election fraud. These actions amounted to 

voter intimidation and attempted voter intimidation in violation of 

Section 11(b) of the Voting Rights Act of 1965, 52 U.S.C. § 10307(b), 

and a conspiracy to intimidate voters in violation of the Support or 

Advocacy Clause of Section 2 of the Ku Klux Klan Act, 42 U.S.C. 

§ 1985(3). Because the district court’s judgment to the contrary was 

the result of several legal and factual errors, this Court should 

vacate that judgment and remand the case for further proceedings. 
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Statement of the Case 

I. Statutory Background  

A. The Voting Rights Act 

Section 11(b) of the Voting Rights Act of 1965 

comprehensively prohibits intimidation, threats, and coercion 

related to voting, attempted voting, and urging or aiding someone 

to vote: 

No person, whether acting under color of law or 
otherwise, shall intimidate, threaten, or coerce, or 
attempt to intimidate, threaten, or coerce any person for 
voting or attempting to vote, or intimidate, threaten, or 
coerce, or attempt to intimidate, threaten, or coerce any 
person for urging or aiding any person to vote or 
attempt to vote, or intimidate, threaten, or coerce any 
person for exercising any powers or duties under [other 
provisions of the Voting Rights Act]. 

52 U.S.C. § 10307(b) (formerly codified at 42 U.S.C. § 1973i(b)). 

This broad statute reaches private conduct, see League of United 

Latin Am. Citizens v. Pub. Int. Legal Found., No. 18-CV-00423, 

2018 WL 3848404, at *3 (E.D. Va. Aug. 13, 2018) (“LULAC”), and it 

prohibits both intimidation and attempted intimidation. See Nat’l 

Coal. on Black Civic Participation v. Wohl, 498 F. Supp. 3d 457, 

485 (S.D.N.Y. 2020) (“Wohl I”). See generally, Ben Cady & Tom 
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Glazer, Voters Strike Back: Litigating Against Modern Voter 

Intimidation, 39 N.Y.U. Rev. L. & Soc. Change 173, 191 (2015). 

There is no requirement that a defendant acted with specific intent 

to intimidate voters, nor is there any requirement of racial animus. 

See Wohl I, 498 F. Supp. 3d at 480; LULAC, 2018 WL 3848404, at 

*3-4; Willingham v. County of Albany, 593 F. Supp. 2d 446, 462 

(N.D.N.Y. 2006); see also H.R. Rep. No. 89-439, at 30 (1965), as 

reprinted in 1965 U.S.C.C.A.N. 2437, 2462 (noting that “[t]he 

prohibited acts of intimidation need not be racially motivated”). 

  “[T]hreats and intimidation include messages that a 

reasonable recipient familiar with the context of the message would 

interpret as a threat of injury tending to deter individuals from 

exercising their voting rights.” Wohl I, 498 F. Supp. 3d at 477 

(reviewing the text, caselaw, and similar statutes). Accord Kennedy 

v. Meta Platforms, Inc., No. 3:24-cv-02869-WHO, 2024 WL 

4031486, at *7 (N.D. Cal. Sept. 3, 2024); Fair Fight, Inc. v, True the 

Vote, Inc., 710 F. Supp. 3d 1237, 1283 (N.D. Ga. 2024); Ariz. All. for 

Retired Americans v. Clean Elections USA, 638 F. Supp. 3d 1033, 
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1041 (D. Ariz. 2022), opinion vacated, appeal dismissed as moot, 

No. 22-16689, 2023 WL 1097766 (9th Cir. Jan. 26, 2023).  

“[U]nlawful threats or intimidation ... need not be violent or 

physical, and may include communications inspiring fear of legal 

consequences, economic harm, dissemination of personal 

information, and surveillance.” Nat’l Coal. on Black Civic 

Participation v. Wohl, 661 F. Supp. 3d 78, 113 (S.D.N.Y. 2023) 

(“Wohl III”). Threats and intimidation “need not be conveyed in an 

explicit or direct manner,” and they “can be proscribed even where 

the speaker has no intention of carrying them out.” Id. at 118 

(cleaned up); cf. Virginia v. Black, 538 U.S. 343, 352-57 (2003) 

(recognizing that a cross burning can constitute a threat even 

though it contains no explicit message and even if the speaker does 

not intend to act upon the threat); United States v. Dillard, 795 

F.3d 1191, 1200 (10th Cir. 2015) (recognizing that a threat can be 

conditional). 

And because “threats, intimidation or coercion may take on 

many forms,” United States v. Beaty, 288 F.2d 653, 656 (6th Cir. 

1961), courts must consider the context in which challenged acts 
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occurred, including a defendant’s “prior conduct and expressed 

goals.” Wohl I, 498 F. Supp. 3d at 484-85; see also United States v. 

McLeod, 385 F.2d 734, 740, 744 (5th Cir. 1967) (explaining that the 

defendants’ “acts cannot be viewed in isolation” and “must be 

considered against the background of contemporaneous events in 

Selma and the general climate prevailing there at the time”); cf. 

Black, 538 U.S. at 352-57 (explaining that cross burning is 

threatening because of the nation’s social and historical context); 

Dillard, 795 F.3d at 1201 (in determining whether a message 

conveys a threat, “context is critical ... and history can give 

meaning to the message”) (cleaned up); United States v. Wheeler, 

776 F.3d 736, 743 (10th Cir. 2015) (determining whether a 

statement is a threat requires “a fact-intensive inquiry, in which 

the language, the context in which the statements are made, as 

well as the recipients’ responses are all relevant”) (citations 

omitted).  

Intimidation, threats, and coercion obviously include acts of 

violence. See, e.g., Allen v. City of Graham, No. 1:20-CV-997, 2021 

WL 2223772, at *7 (M.D.N.C. June 2, 2021) (beatings and pepper 
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spray); Katzenbach v. Original Knights of the Ku Klux Klan, 250 F. 

Supp. 330, 341 (E.D. La. 1965) (brandishing weapons and using 

tear gas). But those terms also include subtle forms of intimidation 

that a reasonable person, familiar with the context, would 

nonetheless view as a threat of legal, economic, or other 

consequences. Examples have included: robocalls warning that 

police will use voter information to find and enforce old warrants, 

Wohl III, 661 F. Supp. 3d at 113-14; baseless arrests at a voter 

registration event, McLeod, 385 F.2d at 740-41; a letter warning of 

deportation against lawful citizens who are immigrants and their 

family members, United States v. Nguyen, 673 F.3d 1259, 1265 (9th 

Cir. 2012); threats of suing someone or suspending them without 

pay, Lovejoy-Wilson v. NOCO Motor Fuel, Inc., 263 F.3d 208, 223 

(2d Cir. 2001); publishing names, addresses, and phone numbers of 

registered voters in a report accusing them of committing various 

felonies, LULAC, 2018 WL 3848404, at *4; and photographing 

license plates at the polls, Daschle v. Thune, No. 04-cv-4177, ECF 

No. 6, (D.S.D. Nov. 2, 2004). 
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B. The Ku Klux Klan Act 

The Support or Advocacy Clause of Section 2 of the Ku Klux 

Klan Act provides a civil cause of action when two or more persons 

“conspire to prevent by force, intimidation, or threat, any citizen 

who is lawfully entitled to vote, from giving his support or 

advocacy” to any candidate for federal office. 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3); 

see generally, Cady & Glazer, supra, at 192; Note, The Support or 

Advocacy Clause of 1985(3), 133 Harv. L. Rev. 1382, 1390-91 

(2020). The elements of a claim under this clause are: (1) a 

conspiracy; (2) the purpose of which is to force, intimidate, or 

threaten; (3) an individual legally entitled to vote who is engaging 

in lawful activity related to voting in a federal election. See Wohl 

III, 661 F. Supp. 3d at 124. As with Section 11(b), neither state 

action nor racial animus is required. See Kennedy, 2024 WL 

4031486, at *12; Wohl III, 661 F. Supp. 3d at 124-25; LULAC, 2018 

WL 3848404, at *4-6. 

Under federal law, a conspiracy requires: “(1) that two or 

more persons agreed to violate the law, (2) that the defendant knew 

at least the essential objectives of the conspiracy, (3) that the 
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defendant knowingly and voluntarily became a part of it, and (4) 

that the alleged coconspirators were interdependent.” United States 

v. Small, 423 F.3d 1164, 1182 (10th Cir. 2005). An explicit 

agreement is not required, so the agreement to commit an unlawful 

act “‘may be informal and may be inferred entirely from 

circumstantial evidence.’” United States v. Pulido-Jacobo, 377 F.3d 

1124, 1129 (10th Cir. 2004) (quoting United States v. Lang, 364 

F.3d 1210, 1223 (10th Cir. 2004)). 

Courts interpret force, intimidation, and threat under Section 

1985(3) in a manner consistent with Section 11(b), so that conduct 

that would violate the Voting Rights Act will also violate the Ku 

Klux Klan Act if it is part of a conspiracy. See Wohl III, 661 F. 

Supp. 3d at 125-26. 

II. The Plaintiffs’ Lawsuit 

The plaintiffs are three non-partisan civic engagement 

organizations that provide various services and support to Colorado 

voters. (App. 24-25.) They filed this lawsuit in March 2022 stating 

three claims for relief: (1) intimidating voters and potential voters 
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in violation of 52 U.S.C. § 10307(b); (2) attempting to intimidate 

voters and potential voters in violation of 52 U.S.C. § 10307(b); and 

(3) a conspiracy to intimidate voters and potential voters in 

violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3). (App. 32-33.) 

The original defendants were an unincorporated association 

known as the United States Election Integrity Plan (“USEIP”) and 

three members of that group’s core team: Shawn Smith, Ashley 

Epp, and Holly Kasun. (App. 25-26.) USEIP was founded in 

November 2020 in response to false claims of fraud during the 2020 

presidential election. (App. 212.) 

Following the close of discovery, the defendants moved for 

summary judgment on all claims as to all defendants. They argued 

that there was insufficient evidence of voter intimidation or 

attempted voter intimidation. (App. 64.) The defendants also 

argued that USEIP can’t be sued under 52 U.S.C. § 10307(b) or 42 

U.S.C. § 1985(3) because it’s an unincorporated association. (App. 

64.) 

After full briefing, the district court issued a 16-page order 

denying the motion as to the individual defendants. (App. 66.) The 
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court found genuine disputes of material fact on the issues of voter 

intimidation and attempted voter intimidation. (App. 66.) 

But the district court granted the defendants’ motion for 

summary judgment as to USEIP. (App. 69-70.) Finding itself 

“bound by Tenth Circuit precedent” holding that unincorporated 

associations are not “persons” entitled to bring suit under 42 U.S.C. 

§ 1983, the district court concluded that it had no choice but to hold 

that an unincorporated association is neither a “person” that is 

prohibited from intimidating voters or attempting to intimidate 

voters under the Voting Rights Act, 52 U.S.C. § 10307(b), nor a 

“person[]” that is prohibited from conspiring to intimidate voters 

under the Ku Klux Klan Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3). (App. 68-69 

(discussing Lippoldt v. Cole, 468 F.3d 1204 (10th Cir. 2006).) The 

court therefore dismissed USEIP as a party defendant in the case. 

(App. 70.) 

Despite following what it viewed as “binding precedent,” the 

district court noted that the Tenth Circuit is the only circuit to 

interpret “person” in this manner, and it dropped a lengthy footnote 

in which it “respectfully disagree[d]” with that interpretation. (App. 
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69.) Echoing the Eleventh Circuit’s analysis of the issue, the court 

observed that developments after 1871 strongly suggest that 

Congress intended “person” in the Ku Klux Klan Act to include 

unincorporated associations even though the Dictionary Act of 1871 

pointed in the opposite direction. (App. 69 (discussing Fort 

Lauderdale Food Not Bombs v. City of Fort Lauderdale, 11 F.4th 

1266, 1276-83 (11th Cir. 2021).) The court also noted the irony of 

concluding that an unincorporated association like the Ku Klux 

Klan would be exempt from the prohibitions in the Ku Klux Klan 

Act—a result “which is entirely contrary to the history and purpose 

of the Ku Klux Klan Act.” (App. 70.) 

 The case then proceeded to trial without USEIP as a 

defendant. 

III. The Bench Trial 

The district court presided over a four-day bench trial in July 

2024. (App. 111-21.) At trial, the plaintiffs called seven witnesses, 

including the three remaining defendants and one expert witness. 

(App. 111-19.) The court received more than 40 exhibits, including 
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USEIP’s training manuals and “playbook” for recruiting, 

organizing, and canvassing. (App. 111-19, 226-63.) Written by one 

of the individual defendants, the playbook encourages readers to 

“stand up” and “fight” because “we are not in a time of peace” and 

“[n]o one is coming to save us.” (App. 228.) 

Because USEIP was no longer a party, however, the plaintiffs 

could not introduce several exhibits, including: (1) communications 

on USEIP’s internal message board discussing the use of weapons 

during canvassing efforts and the targeting of minority 

communities (App. 131-32, 283); (2) photographs and affidavits 

from USEIP’s canvassers (App. 127-29); and (3) USEIP’s discovery 

responses. The district court limited out-of-court statements to 

those made by the three remaining individual defendants. (App. 

151.) 

The district court also refused to allow the plaintiffs to 

introduce a video, later published on social media, of defendant 

Smith discussing USEIP’s canvassing efforts at a public event. 

During his remarks, Smith asserted that anyone involved in 

election fraud “deserves to hang” because “sometimes the old ways 
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are the best ways.” (App. 136-38, 286.)1 The plaintiffs offered the 

video into evidence during Smith’s testimony, and the defendants 

objected to the video on the grounds of hearsay, lack of foundation, 

and authenticity. (App. 133-38.) The district court excluded it 

without explanation, saying simply “I’m not allowing you to show 

me the video.” (App. 136.) 

On the second day of trial, the plaintiffs presented the 

testimony of Yvette Roberts, a Colorado voter who had complained 

to the Secretary of State and her local sheriff about a visit from two 

canvassers in June 2021. According to Roberts, the canvassers wore 

“official looking badges” and explained that they were “looking into 

the Colorado 2020 election.” (App. 168-69.) Addressing her by 

name, one of the canvassers informed Roberts that he had voting 

information from the State and proceeded to question her about her 

citizenship and the citizenship of other members of her household, 

her voter registration, and how she had submitted her ballot in the 

2020 election. (App. 169-81.) Roberts told them things she didn’t 

                                                                                                                  
1 A flash drive containing a copy of the video will be filed with the 
Clerk of Court. 
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want to. (App. 171.) She described the incident as “pretty scary.” 

(App. 171.) Even though she had received other canvassers in the 

past who didn’t intimidate her, she felt intimidated by her 

encounter with these canvassers. (App. 178, 180-81.) And she felt 

compelled by the incident to report it as “voter intimidation” to the 

Secretary of State. (App. 180-81, 293-94.) 

The plaintiffs rested their case at the end of the third day of 

trial. (App. 119.) The defendants then moved for judgment on 

partial findings under Rule 52(c) of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure. (App. 119.) After hearing arguments from counsel, the 

district court took the motion under advisement and recessed for 

the day. (App. 119.) 

IV. Judgment on Partial Findings 

On the fourth day of trial, the district court returned to the 

bench and granted the defendants’ motion for judgment on partial 

findings. (App. 120.) The court found that the three individual 

defendants were members of USEIP’s core team and that USEIP 

had canvassed about 9,400 doors across Colorado in 2021. (App. 
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210.) Reviewing USEIP’s playbook and training manual, the court 

found “nothing in either document that is remotely or objectively 

intimidating on its face” but made no mention of the violent and 

militaristic rhetoric throughout. (App. 211.) 

Turning to defendant Smith’s statement that anyone involved 

in election fraud is committing treason and deserves to hang, the 

court described his statement “concerning” but found that “the 

plaintiffs have established no connection between this statement 

and an attempt to intimidate any particular voter or group of 

voters.” (App. 211-12.) The court likewise found no evidence that 

defendants Epp and Kasun had done anything to intimidate any 

particular voters. (App. 212, 214.) 

As to Roberts, the court declared as a matter of law that the 

canvassers “engaged in no conduct that could be objectively 

considered intimidating” and that the questions they asked of her 

were “not intimidating and not improper.” (App. 218.) The court 

also observed that Roberts “did not suffer any threats of violence, 

threatening phone calls, [or] vandalism during or after the event.” 

(App. 219.) Roberts’s “sole regret,” according to the court, “seemed 
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to be her own failure of memory to remember their names or what 

organization they were with.” (App. 218.) 

The court then concluded that “there is simply insufficient 

evidence to proceed any further in this matter.” (App. 219.) “In 

sum, plaintiffs have failed to introduce any evidence that can 

remotely be perceived as intimidating or threatening on behalf of 

the three defendants.” (App. 219-20.)   
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Standards of Review 

When a district court enters judgment on partial findings 

under Rule 52(c) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, this Court 

reviews its factual findings for clear error and its legal conclusions 

de novo. See Romero v. City of Albuquerque, 190 F. App’x 597, 601 

(10th Cir. 2006). A finding of fact is clearly erroneous if it lacks 

factual support in the record or if the appellate court, after 

reviewing all the evidence, is left with the definite and firm 

conviction that a mistake has been made. See United States v. 

Pena, 115 F.4th 1254, 1259 (10th Cir. 2024).  

A district court’s decision to admit or exclude evidence is 

reviewed for abuse of discretion. See Pierce v. Shorty Small’s of 

Branson, Inc., 137 F.3d 1190, 1192 (10th Cir. 1998). But when the 

district court’s “exercise of [] discretion depended on the resolution 

of a purely legal issue” this Court reviews that issue de novo. Baca 

v. Berry, 806 F.3d 1262, 1268 (10th Cir. 2015) (emphasis in 

original) (internal quotation marks omitted). “A district court 

abuses its discretion when it (1) fails to exercise meaningful 

discretion, such as acting arbitrarily or not at all, (2) commits an 
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error of law, such as applying an incorrect legal standard or 

misapplying the correct legal standard, or (3) relies on clearly 

erroneous factual findings.” Farmer v. Banco Popular of N. Am., 

791 F.3d 1246, 1256 (10th Cir. 2015); see also Dansie v. Union Pac. 

R.R. Co., 42 F.4th 1184, 1198 (10th Cir. 2022) (“A district court 

abuses its discretion when its decision is arbitrary, capricious or 

whimsical or falls outside the bounds of permissible choice in the 

circumstances.” (quotation marks omitted)). 
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Summary of the Argument 

 This Court should vacate the judgment below for four 

reasons. 

 First, the district court’s dismissal of USEIP was legal error. 

The Voting Rights Act prohibits voter intimidation and attempted 

voter intimidation by any “person,” 52 U.S.C. § 10307(b), and the 

definition of that term provided by the Dictionary Act, 1 U.S.C. § 1, 

has included unincorporated associations like USEIP since well 

before Congress enacted the Voting Rights Act. Similarly, the Ku 

Klux Klan Act provides a civil cause of action when two or more 

“persons” conspire to intimidate voters. 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3). 

Construing “persons” to exempt unincorporated associations, as the 

district court did, goes against the entire history and purpose of the 

Ku Klux Klan Act and the uniform practice of other federal courts. 

 Second, the district court’s exclusion of a key video was an 

abuse of discretion. Even though the defendants had waived all 

objections to the video, the court still excluded it without 

explanation, saying simply, “I’m not allowing you to show me the 

video.” (App. 136.) Without the video, the defendant’s threat of 
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physical harm against future voters came into the record only 

through the defendant’s own sanitized testimony and his attorney’s 

inaccurate characterization of it.  

 Third, the district court’s critical finding that certain 

canvassers “engaged in no conduct that could be objectively 

considered intimidating” was both clear error and legal error. (App. 

218.) It was clear error because the canvassers wore badges, asked 

intrusive questions, knew personal details about the voters, and 

claimed to have information from the State. A reasonable person 

familiar with the context could find this conduct intimidating. The 

finding was based on legal error because the court focused too 

narrowly on whether the canvassers who interrogated voters were 

polite when they did so. The court refused to consider the context in 

which the questioning occurred. 

 Fourth, the district court applied the wrong legal standard to 

the plaintiffs’ claims. In granting judgment as a matter of law, the 

court incorrectly stated that it must focus directly on the actions of 

the defendants, and it refused to consider the context in which 

those actions took place. But there is no such requirement in the 
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text or caselaw. Often, whether challenged conduct is objectively 

intimidating or an attempt at intimidation will depend on the 

context. For that reason, courts must consider “all of the 

surrounding facts” when evaluating claims of voter intimidation or 

attempted voter intimidation. McLeod, 385 F.2d at 744. And the 

district court refused to do that here. 

  These errors were highly prejudicial, narrowing the plaintiffs’ 

claims beyond recognition and limiting the presentation of their 

case at trial. This Court should therefore vacate the judgment and 

remand the case to the district court for further proceedings.   
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Argument 

I. Unincorporated associations can be sued under the 

Voting Rights Act and the Ku Klux Klan Act. 

A. The Voting Rights Act 

 Section 11(b) of the Voting Rights Act prohibits voter 

intimidation and attempted voter intimidation by any “person.” 52 

U.S.C. § 10307(b). The issue of whether USEIP—an unincorporated 

association—can be sued under Section 11(b) thus depends on 

whether the term “person” in the Act includes an unincorporated 

association.  

It does. Statutory interpretation begins, as always, with the 

statutory text. “Unless otherwise defined, statutory terms are 

generally interpreted in accordance with their ordinary meaning.” 

BP Am. Prod. Co. v. Burton, 549 U.S. 84, 91 (2006). The Voting 

Rights Act contains no special definition of “person,” but the 

Dictionary Act does: “In determining the meaning of any Act of 

Congress, unless the context indicates otherwise * * * the word[ ] 

‘person’ ... include[s] corporations, companies, associations, firms, 

partnerships, societies, and joint stock companies, as well as 
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individuals.” 1 U.S.C. § 1.2 The plain language of the text of Section 

11(b) therefore includes unincorporated associations like USEIP. 

See, e.g., Hobby Lobby Stores, Inc. v. Sebelius, 723 F.3d 1114, 1129 

(10th Cir. 2013) (en banc) (describing the Dictionary Act as the 

“first resource” for interpreting the word “person”), aff’d sub nom. 

Burwell v. Hobby Lobby Stores, Inc., 573 U.S. 682 (2014). 

Also, nothing about the context indicates that “person” doesn’t 

include unincorporated associations. “Context” here generally 

means “‘the text of the Act of Congress surrounding the word at 

issue, or the text of other related congressional Acts.’” Hobby 

Lobby, 723 F.3d at 1130 (quoting Rowland v. Cal. Men’s Colony, 

506 U.S. 194, 199 (1993)). There is nothing surrounding the word 

“person” in the Voting Rights Act that suggests a limiting 

construction. To the contrary, the Supreme Court has instructed 

that the Voting Rights Act “should be interpreted in a manner that 

provides ‘the broadest possible scope.’” Chisom v. Roemer, 501 U.S. 

                                                                                                                  
2 Congress adopted this definition in 1948—17 years before it 
passed the Voting Rights Act. See Act of June 25, 1948, Pub. L. No. 
80-772, § 6, 62 Stat. 683, 859 (1948). 
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380, 403 (1991) (quoting Allen v. State Bd. of Elections, 393 U.S. 

544, 567 (1969)).  

The text of a closely related statute likewise suggests that 

“person” isn’t so limited. The Civil Rights Act of 1957 contains a 

provision like Section 11(b) that prohibits voter intimidation by any 

“person . . . for the purpose of” interfering in a federal election. 52 

U.S.C. § 10101(b) (formerly codified at 42 U.S.C. § 1971). That 

provision is enforceable by injunctive relief in suits brought by the 

Attorney General, 52 U.S.C. § 10101(c), and the original version of 

the Act limited the penalties for contempt when the accused was a 

“natural person.” Civil Rights Act of 1957, Pub. L. No. 85-315, 

§ 131, 71 Stat. 634, 638 (1957). This limitation shows that 

“Congress is quite capable of narrowing the scope of a statutory 

entitlement or affording a type of statutory exemption when it 

wants to.” Hobby Lobby, 723 F.3d at 1130. And when limitations 

like that are absent, “they do not apply.” Id. 

 It is thus no surprise that courts have uniformly entertained 

voter intimidation claims against unincorporated associations 

under the Civil Rights Act of 1957 and the Voting Rights Act of 
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1965. See, e.g., Wohl III, 661 F. Supp. 3d at 90-91 (the defendants 

included “Project 1599,” an unincorporated political organization); 

Democratic Nat’l Comm., v. Republican Nat’l Comm., 671 F. Supp. 

2d 575, 579 (D.N.J. 2009), aff’d, 673 F.3d 192 (3d Cir. 2012) (the 

defendants included the Republican National Committee, an 

unincorporated political organization); Original Knights of the Ku 

Klux Klan, 250 F. Supp. at 334 (the defendants included an 

unincorporated paramilitary organization).  

 Here, the district court didn’t separately address the meaning 

of “person” under the Voting Rights Act. It analyzed only the Ku 

Klux Klan Act, and it assumed that the meaning of “person” is the 

same in both. (App. 69.) But that assumption was unwarranted 

given the length of time between the two statutes, the intervening 

adoption of a statutory definition of “person” that plainly 

encompasses unincorporated associations like USEIP, and the 

interpretive clue contained in the Civil Rights Act of 1957.  

 The court’s assumption was also prejudicial. Dismissing 

USEIP as a party defendant hamstrung the plaintiffs’ presentation 

of their case at trial, limiting the admission of certain exhibits and 
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completely excluding others.3 For example, the district court 

refused to admit evidence from USEIP’s internal message board 

discussing the use of weapons during canvassing efforts and the 

targeting of minority communities. (App. 131-32, 287.) The court 

refused to allow photographs taken and affidavits prepared by 

USEIP canvassers. (App. 127-29.) And the plaintiffs could not use 

USEIP’s discovery responses and organizational deposition as 

substantive evidence. This evidence would have provided important 

context for the challenged conduct, which is essential to understand 

its impact or attempted impact on the voters. See Wohl III, 661 F. 

Supp. 3d at 113. 

                                                                                                                  
3 The district court’s dismissal of USEIP also appears to have led 
the district court to focus too narrowly on the actions of the three 
individual defendants rather than on the enterprise as a whole. 
Several times throughout trial, the plaintiffs tried to offer critical 
context about USEIP operations, but the district court admonished 
plaintiffs to “stop wasting so much time” because “I have dismissed 
the organization. It’s not on trial here.” (App. 150; see also App. 
147-49.) See infra Part IV. 
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B. The Ku Klux Klan Act 

 The question of whether USEIP can be sued as a defendant 

under the Support or Advocacy Clause of the Ku Klux Klan Act also 

turns on the meaning of “person.” The clause provides a civil cause 

of action when two or more “persons” conspire to intimidate voters. 

42 U.S.C. § 1985(3). The district court concluded that it was bound 

by this Court’s holding in Lippoldt that an unincorporated 

association is not a “person” who can bring suit as a plaintiff under 

a different statute—42 U.S.C. § 1983—to hold here that an 

unincorporated association is not a “person” who can be a 

defendant under 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3). (App. 69-70.) 

 But that conclusion overstates the holding of Lippoldt. “Not 

all text within a judicial decision serves as precedent.” Bryan A. 

Garner et al., The Law of Judicial Precedent 44 (2016). “That’s a 

role generally reserved only for the holding: the parts of a decision 

that focus on the legal question actually presented to and decided 

by the court.” Id. “A holding consists of the ‘court’s determination of 

a matter of law pivotal to its decision.’” Id. (citation omitted). 
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In Lippoldt, the determination of whether an unincorporated 

association can be sued as a defendant under Section 1985 played 

no role in its determination of whether an unincorporated 

association can sue as a plaintiff under Section 1983. The case 

involved a different statute and a different posture. It presented a 

different question altogether, and the panel’s decision did not 

purport to broaden the scope of its rule. See Lippoldt, 468 F.3d at 

1216 (limiting its holding to 42 U.S.C. § 1983); see also Garner et 

al., supra, at 88 (“It’s normally thought to be within the court’s 

discretion to decide the scope of a rule or standard: as long as it 

forms the basis of the holding, it’s precedential.”). Thus, while the 

actual holding of Lippoldt was binding on the district court, neither 

that court nor this one is bound to extend Lippoldt’s holding to 

Section 1985. 

And there are at least two reasons not to. First is the 

legislative history of the Ku Klux Klan Act—the same legislative 

history on which this Court relied in Lippoldt. Surveying that 

history, this Court observed that “comments made by several 

members of Congress indicate a restricted view of who could qualify 
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as a proper Section 1983 plaintiff.” Lippoldt, 468 F.3d at 1213. 

Even if that’s a correct reading of the legislative history concerning 

who can be a plaintiff under Section 1983, it doesn’t necessarily 

follow that Congress didn’t intend to provide a cause of action 

against an unincorporated association like the Ku Klux Klan under 

Section 1985.  

As the Supreme Court has recognized repeatedly, the 

legislative history of the Ku Klux Klan Act makes clear that the 

Act was a direct response to atrocities committed by the Klan and 

similar organizations in the South during Reconstruction.4 See, e.g., 

Monroe v. Pape, 365 U.S. 167, 174 (1961) (Congress “had the Klan 

‘particularly in mind’” when it passed the Act); Collins v. 

Hardyman, 341 U.S. 651, 662 (1951) (“the post Civil War Ku Klux 

                                                                                                                  
4 The popular name of the Act also supports a construction that 
would permit civil actions against unincorporated associations like 
the Klan. Cf. INS v. Nat’l Ctr. For Immigrants’ Rights, Inc., 502 
U.S. 183, 189 (1991) (“[T]he title of a statute or section can aid in 
resolving an ambiguity in the legislative text.”); Antonin Scalia & 
Bryan A. Garner, Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts 
221 (2012) (“The title and headings of a statute are permissible 
indicators of meaning.”).  
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Klan against which this Act was fashioned”); see also Pape, 365 

U.S. at 200 (Harlan, J., concurring) (“We have not passed upon the 

question whether 42 U.S.C. § 1985 … was intended to reach only 

the Ku Klux Klan or other substantially organized group activity … 

[or] any conspiracy of two persons.”); Note, supra, at 1388. This 

legislative history points emphatically in the opposite direction 

from Lippoldt. 

A second reason not to extend Lippoldt is because of 

legitimate concern that Lippoldt itself was wrongly decided. The 

Eleventh Circuit articulated that view at length in Fort Lauderdale 

Food Not Bombs, pointing out that this Court’s “otherwise thorough 

discussion [in Lippoldt] … did not account for the fact that 

Congress re-enacted the word ‘person’ in § 1983 twice after 

intervening developments in federal law clarified that 

unincorporated associations were ‘persons.’” 11 F. 4th at 1283. 

Those re-enactments occurred in 1979 and 1996—before Lippoldt, 

yet well after the Dictionary Act and common usage included 

unincorporated associations within the meaning of “person.” See id. 

at 1280-81. Perhaps because of that oversight, this Circuit “stands 
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alone” in its interpretation of “person” under Section 1983. Id. at 

1283. And that’s reason enough not to extend Lippoldt’s 

interpretation of “person” to Section 1985. 

Instead, this Court should give “persons” in Section 1985 its 

ordinary meaning, which has long included unincorporated 

associations. See Scalia & Garner, supra, at 273. Doing so has the 

benefit of harmonizing the term with the legislative history of the 

Ku Klux Klan Act and the more recent re-enactments of Section 

1983 that updated the meaning of “person” in that section. And it’s 

consistent with the uniform practice of other courts that have 

entertained voter intimidation suits under Section 1985 against 

unincorporated associations like USEIP. See, e.g., Wohl III, 661 F. 

Supp. 3d at 90-91 (the defendants included “Project 1599,” an 

unincorporated political organization). 

II. The district court improperly excluded a video of a 

defendant stating that anyone involved in election 

fraud “deserves to hang.” 

 To allow for meaningful appellate review, district courts are 

generally expected to articulate their reasons for admitting or 
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excluding evidence over an objection. See generally Fed. R. Evid. 

103(a). Failure to do so can constitute reversible error if the court’s 

ruling is prejudicial. See id. 

Here, the district court excluded a key video of a defendant 

speaking about USEIP’s canvassing efforts at a large public 

gathering and stating that anyone involved in election fraud 

“deserves to hang.” (App. 136-38, 286.) The plaintiffs moved to 

introduce the video during the defendant’s testimony, and the 

defendants objected to the video on the grounds of hearsay, lack of 

foundation, and authenticity. (App. 133-38.) The district court 

excluded it without explanation, saying simply “I’m not allowing 

you to show me the video.” (App. 136.) 

One might assume that the court excluded the exhibit on one 

of the grounds articulated by the defendants’ attorneys. But the 

defendants had waived those objections by failing to make them in 

their pretrial disclosures as required by the final pretrial order. 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(a)(3). (App. 93.) In fact, the defendants didn’t 

object to the video at all in their pretrial disclosures. (App. 98.) 
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Even if the defendants hadn’t waived those objections, they 

would not have been well founded. The video was not hearsay 

because it was the statement of a party opponent and obviously not 

offered for the truth of the matter asserted. See Fed. R. Evid. 801. 

The sponsoring witness was on the stand, and he did not dispute 

that he had made the statements shown in the video. (App. 135-38.) 

Any specific issues of foundation or authenticity could have been 

resolved right then and there. 

Without the video, evidence of the defendant’s chilling 

statement and the crowd’s enthusiastic response came in only 

through the defendant’s own sanitized testimony and his attorney’s 

inaccurate and self-serving representations about the video. (App. 

197-205.) The defendant and his attorney tried to explain away 

what would have otherwise been a vivid demonstration of the 

violent rhetoric and denialist fervor that characterized USEIP’s 

voter intimidation efforts after the 2020 presidential election. And 

the video itself, which was widely distributed on social media, is 

part of the defendants’ attempt to intimidate voters in future 

elections. It’s a thinly veiled threat of physical harm if this 
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vigilante group of election denialists believes that you’ve done 

something wrong. Excluding the video at the heart of the plaintiffs’ 

case—and doing so without any explanation—was therefore an 

abuse of the district court’s discretion and warrants reversal. 

III. The district court’s finding that the canvassers who 

questioned a key witness “engaged in no conduct that 

could be objectively considered intimidating” is clearly 

erroneous and based on the wrong legal standard.  

When an organized group of election denialists knocks on 

your door just weeks after the violent insurrection at the United 

States Capitol, a reasonable person like Roberts could be afraid. 

These weren’t encyclopedia salesmen. They had badges. They said 

they had information from the State. They knew Roberts’s name 

and voting history. And they questioned Roberts about her 

citizenship and fundamental right to vote—sensitive topics in an 

environment of recent political violence at the United States 

Capitol motivated by false claims of voter fraud. Roberts was 
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scared of reprisal, and she felt intimidated by the encounter.5 (App. 

171, 180-81.) 

In May 2021, the Department of Justice warned that this sort 

of door-to-door canvassing for the purpose of voter verification 

“raises concerns regarding potential intimidation of voters.” E-mail 

from Pamela S. Karlan, Principal Deputy Assistant Att’y Gen., to 

Karen Fann, President of the Arizona State Sen. (May 5, 2021), 

https://www.justice.gov/d9/case-documents/attachments/ 

2021/05/05/civil_rights_division_letter_to_arizona_senate_presiden

t_5-5_final_ro_tag_prop.pdf. The warning came after the Arizona 

State Senate hired an outside contractor to investigate claims of 

voter fraud in Maricopa County following the 2020 presidential 

election. Id. The contractor’s statement of work indicated that it 

had been “knock[ing] on doors to confirm if valid voters actually 

                                                                                                                  
5 The district court’s comment that Roberts’s “sole regret seemed to 
be her own failure of memory to remember [the canvassers’] names 
or what organization they were from” cannot be reconciled with 
Roberts’s testimony and is unsupported by the record. (App. 218.) 
Roberts provided details about the questions they asked and why 
she found their approach, demeanor, and questions to be 
intimidating. (App. 169-81.) 
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lived at” certain addresses and that it would conduct an audit of 

voting history by contacting certain voters through a “combination 

of phone calls and physical canvassing” to determine whether the 

individual had actually voted in the November 2020 election. Id. 

Based on the Department’s “[p]ast experience with similar 

investigative efforts around the country,” the Department warned 

that “[s]uch investigative efforts can have a significant intimidating 

effect on qualified voters that can deter them from seeking to vote 

in the future.” Id. 

And it’s not hard to see why. This sort of “election fraud” 

investigation—even when conducted under the auspices of the 

Arizona State Senate—raises the specter of potential legal 

consequences because “it portends the risk of arrest” because of 

how someone voted in the past or for voting in the future. Wohl III, 

661 F. Supp. 3d at 113. Here, of course, the investigation had no 

official sanction. It was led by a vigilante group of election 

denialists who had participated in the events of January 6. Given 

the recent violence motivated by claims of election fraud, a door-to-
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door search for election fraud like this one also raises the specter of 

physical harm. Roberts’s fear was reasonable. 

The district court’s finding to the contrary is based on the 

wrong legal standard. The court focused too narrowly on whether 

the canvassers who interrogated Roberts about sensitive topics 

were polite when they did so. It refused to consider “all of the 

surrounding facts” that provide the context for the questioning. 

McLeod, 385 F.2d at 744; see also Wohl III, 661 F. Supp. 3d at 113 

(“intimidation includes messages that a reasonable recipient, 

familiar with the context of the communication, would view as a 

threat of injury”) (emphasis added). Indeed, the district court 

considered none of the surrounding facts that might lead a 

reasonable person familiar with the context—like Roberts—to view 

the canvassers as threatening.  

The district court’s finding is also clearly erroneous. No 

matter how polite the canvassers were, it is undisputed that they 

wore badges, asked intrusive questions, knew personal details 
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about Roberts, and claimed to have information from the State.6 A 

reasonable person could find this conduct intimidating, as Roberts 

did, despite the canvassers’ politeness. The district court’s finding 

that there was no evidence of intimidation is a clear error. 

The district court’s erroneous finding that the Roberts 

canvassers engaged in no intimidating conduct was essential to its 

judgment. This Court should therefore vacate that judgment and 

remand the case for further proceedings. 

                                                                                                                  
6 The district court incorrectly stated that Roberts had 

testified that the canvassers were carrying information from Mesa 
County. (App. 218.) In fact, Roberts testified that the canvassers 
told her that they obtained information from the State. (App. 169, 
172.) That testimony is consistent with the defendants’ testimony 
that USEIP canvassers used voter lists obtained from the Secretary 
of State and with other testimony that the Secretary of State’s 
office had understood two complaints from Mesa County to be 
about USEIP. (App. 139-43, 166.) Although the court found that it 
was “unclear” whether the canvassers at Roberts’s house were 
using USEIP’s playbook or training manual, the district court 
relied on its misstatement of the record to infer that USEIP did not 
itself canvass Roberts’s house. (App. 211.) Other evidence also 
counters the district court’s erroneous inference: (1) the playbook 
itself, which mentions Mesa County extensively (App. 237); (2) 
defendant Smith’s testimony that USEIP had a Mesa County 
captain (App. 130); and (3) Roberts’s description of the canvassers’ 
behavior, which mirrored the instructions in USEIP’s training 
materials (App. 259). 
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IV. The district court applied the wrong legal standard to 

the plaintiffs’ claims by refusing to consider the 

context in which the challenged acts occurred. 

Voter intimidation comes in “many forms.” Beaty, 288 F.2d at 

656. There is no requirement in the text or caselaw that it be 

physical or direct. Often, whether challenged conduct is objectively 

intimidating or an attempt at intimidation will depend on the 

context. Cf. Black, 538 U.S. at 352-57 (explaining that cross 

burning is threatening because of the nation’s social and historical 

context); Dillard, 795 F.3d at 1201 (in determining whether a 

message conveys a threat, “context is critical ... and history can 

give meaning to the message”) (cleaned up). For that reason, courts 

consider “all of the surrounding facts” when evaluating claims of 

voter intimidation or attempted voter intimidation. McLeod, 385 

F.2d at 744; cf. Wheeler, 776 F.3d at 743 (determining whether a 

statement is a threat requires “a fact-intensive inquiry, in which 

the language, the context in which the statements are made, as 

well as the recipients’ responses are all relevant”) (citations 

omitted). 
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But the district court refused to do that here. In granting 

judgment as a matter of law, the court incorrectly stated that it 

“must focus on the acts of defendants directly or those of others 

who they specifically directed or controlled.” (App. 208.) It refused 

to consider evidence “about the January 6th insurrection” or “about 

the defendants’ collective belief that there was election fraud.” 

(App. 208.) According to the court’s view of the law, “[n]one of that 

actually matters.” (App. 208.) Not surprisingly, then, its recitation 

of the facts included nothing about the context in which the 

challenged acts occurred: the former President—at a January 6 

rally attended by all three defendants—had very recently incited a 

violent insurrection at the United States Capitol with false claims 

of election fraud that continue to reverberate to this day.  

 The district court also failed to consider other evidence that 

was especially relevant to the context in which the challenged acts 

occurred. For example, there were contemporaneous media reports 

that the canvassers were armed. (App. 182.) The defendants made 

many public statements about election fraud to publicize their 

efforts and recruit volunteers. (App. 183-96.) The defendants 
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instructed canvassers to prepare affidavits for state and local law 

enforcement officials if the canvasser suspected wrongdoing after 

speaking with a voter. (App. 124-26, 152-53.) The defendants 

publicized a report on their canvassing efforts claiming to have 

found “unexplained irregularities” in 5 to 11 percent of voters they 

contacted and suggesting that up to 12 percent of elections in 2020 

“may be questionable.” (App. 193-94, 266.) And the Colorado 

Secretary of State’s office took the defendants’ threats of violence so 

seriously that it notified the Department of Justice, the Colorado 

State Patrol, and the Colorado Department of Public Safety, and it 

issued a warning to the public about USEIP’s canvassing efforts. 

(App. 154-65, 288.) 

 Of course, the district court wasn’t required to comment on 

every piece of evidence. But neither should it have considered such 

evidence off limits as its ruling indicates and as its silence 

illustrates.7 The context is important here because a knock on the 

                                                                                                                  
7 The district court’s ruling that context doesn’t matter to the 
plaintiffs’ claims is also consistent with its comments on the 
evidence throughout the trial. (App. 144-45 (“[T]his just really isn’t 
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door might well be perceived differently if voters are aware that an 

armed and organized bunch of election denialists are out hunting 

for fraud.  

 The district court’s failure to consider the context in which 

the challenged conduct occurred was thus legal error. On remand, 

it should consider “all of the surrounding facts” to determine 

whether the challenged conduct was intimidating or an attempt at 

intimidation. 

  

                                                                                                                  
that germane to what we’re doing here today.”); App. 146 (“I 
understand the backdrop here, but we’re not on anything that’s 
even remotely close to what the claim in this case is.”); App. 149 
(“The issue for this case is is she guilty of voter intimidation, not 
sending out blogs, not talking about election fraud.”); App. 150 
(“We’re talking about three individuals and their actions for voter 
intimidation.”).) 
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Conclusion 

 Voter intimidation has no place in our democracy. Partisans 

unhappy with the outcome of an election have every right to 

peaceably contest the results. To protest. To petition their 

government for redress of their grievances. But they don’t have the 

right to strike fear into the hearts of their fellow citizens, as these 

defendants did, with door-to-door vigilantism backed by threats of 

violence.  

 The district court’s judgment here may have unwittingly 

validated such efforts, but that judgment rests on error after error 

that render it infirm. This Court should therefore vacate the 

judgment and remand the case to the district court for further 

proceedings. 
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Oral Argument Statement 

 This case arises from a voter intimidation campaign launched 

after the 2020 election by an organized group of election denialists. 

Congress has enacted two laws—the Ku Klux Klan Act and the 

Voting Rights Act—to protect voters from precisely this kind of 

harassment. The district court’s rulings here undermine those 

protections and therefore merit oral argument because they present 

issues that are vital to our Republic. 
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Addendum 

52 U.S.C. § 10307 

Prohibited acts 

(a) Failure or refusal to permit casting or tabulation of vote 

 
No person acting under color of law shall fail or refuse to permit 
any person to vote who is entitled to vote under any provision of 
chapters 103 to 107 of this title or is otherwise qualified to vote, or 
willfully fail or refuse to tabulate, count, and report such person's 
vote. 
 
(b) Intimidation, threats, or coercion 
 
No person, whether acting under color of law or otherwise, shall 
intimidate, threaten, or coerce, or attempt to intimidate, threaten, 
or coerce any person for voting or attempting to vote, or intimidate, 
threaten, or coerce, or attempt to intimidate, threaten, or coerce 
any person for urging or aiding any person to vote or attempt to 
vote, or intimidate, threaten, or coerce any person for exercising 
any powers or duties under section 10302(a), 10305, 10306, 
or 10308(e) of this title or section 1973d or 1973g of Title 42. 
 

(c) False information in registering or voting; penalties 
 
Whoever knowingly or willfully gives false information as to his 
name, address or period of residence in the voting district for the 
purpose of establishing his eligibility to register or vote, or 
conspires with another individual for the purpose of encouraging 
his false registration to vote or illegal voting, or pays or offers to 
pay or accepts payment either for registration to vote or for voting 
shall be fined not more than $10,000 or imprisoned not more than 
five years, or both: Provided, however, That this provision shall be 
applicable only to general, special, or primary elections held solely 
or in part for the purpose of selecting or electing any candidate for 
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the office of President, Vice President, presidential elector, Member 
of the United States Senate, Member of the United States House of 
Representatives, Delegate from the District of Columbia, Guam, or 
the Virgin Islands, or Resident Commissioner of the 
Commonwealth of Puerto Rico. 
 

(d) Falsification or concealment of material facts or giving 

of false statements in matters within jurisdiction of 

examiners or hearing officers; penalties 
 
Whoever, in any matter within the jurisdiction of an examiner or 
hearing officer knowingly and willfully falsifies or conceals a 
material fact, or makes any false, fictitious, or fraudulent 
statements or representations, or makes or uses any false writing 
or document knowing the same to contain any false, fictitious, or 
fraudulent statement or entry, shall be fined not more than 
$10,000 or imprisoned not more than five years, or both. 
 

(e) Voting more than once 
 

(1) Whoever votes more than once in an election referred to in 
paragraph (2) shall be fined not more than $10,000 or imprisoned 
not more than five years, or both. 
 

(2) The prohibition of this subsection applies with respect to any 
general, special, or primary election held solely or in part for the 
purpose of selecting or electing any candidate for the office of 
President, Vice President, presidential elector, Member of the 
United States Senate, Member of the United States House of 
Representatives, Delegate from the District of Columbia, Guam, or 
the Virgin Islands, or Resident Commissioner of the 
Commonwealth of Puerto Rico. 
 

(3) As used in this subsection, the term “votes more than once” does 
not include the casting of an additional ballot if all prior ballots of 
that voter were invalidated, nor does it include the voting in two 
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jurisdictions under section 10502 of this title, to the extent two 
ballots are not cast for an election to the same candidacy or office. 
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42 U.S.C. § 1985 

Conspiracy to interfere with civil rights 

(1) Preventing officer from performing duties 

 
If two or more persons in any State or Territory conspire to 
prevent, by force, intimidation, or threat, any person from 
accepting or holding any office, trust, or place of confidence under 
the United States, or from discharging any duties thereof; or to 
induce by like means any officer of the United States to leave any 
State, district, or place, where his duties as an officer are required 
to be performed, or to injure him in his person or property on 
account of his lawful discharge of the duties of his office, or while 
engaged in the lawful discharge thereof, or to injure his property so 
as to molest, interrupt, hinder, or impede him in the discharge of 
his official duties; 
 
(2) Obstructing justice; intimidating party, witness, or juror 

 
If two or more persons in any State or Territory conspire to deter, 
by force, intimidation, or threat, any party or witness in any court 
of the United States from attending such court, or from testifying to 
any matter pending therein, freely, fully, and truthfully, or to 
injure such party or witness in his person or property on account of 
his having so attended or testified, or to influence the verdict, 
presentment, or indictment of any grand or petit juror in any such 
court, or to injure such juror in his person or property on account of 
any verdict, presentment, or indictment lawfully assented to by 
him, or of his being or having been such juror; or if two or more 
persons conspire for the purpose of impeding, hindering, 
obstructing, or defeating, in any manner, the due course of justice 
in any State or Territory, with intent to deny to any citizen the 
equal protection of the laws, or to injure him or his property for 
lawfully enforcing, or attempting to enforce, the right of any 
person, or class of persons, to the equal protection of the laws; 
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(3) Depriving persons of rights or privileges 

 
If two or more persons in any State or Territory conspire or go in 
disguise on the highway or on the premises of another, for the 
purpose of depriving, either directly or indirectly, any person or 
class of persons of the equal protection of the laws, or of equal 
privileges and immunities under the laws; or for the purpose of 
preventing or hindering the constituted authorities of any State or 
Territory from giving or securing to all persons within such State or 
Territory the equal protection of the laws; or if two or more persons 
conspire to prevent by force, intimidation, or threat, any citizen 
who is lawfully entitled to vote, from giving his support or advocacy 
in a legal manner, toward or in favor of the election of any lawfully 
qualified person as an elector for President or Vice President, or as 
a Member of Congress of the United States; or to injure any citizen 
in person or property on account of such support or advocacy; in 
any case of conspiracy set forth in this section, if one or more 
persons engaged therein do, or cause to be done, any act in 
furtherance of the object of such conspiracy, whereby another is 
injured in his person or property, or deprived of having and 
exercising any right or privilege of a citizen of the United States, 
the party so injured or deprived may have an action for the 
recovery of damages occasioned by such injury or deprivation, 
against any one or more of the conspirators. 
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Summary Judgment Order 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO 

Judge Charlotte N. Sweeney 

Civil Action No. 1:22-cv-00581-CNS 

COLORADO MONTANA WYOMING STATE AREA CONFERENCE OF THE NAACP, 
LEAGUE OF WOMEN VOTERS OF COLORADO, 
MI FAMILIA VOTA, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

UNITED STATES ELECTION INTEGRITY PLAN, 
SHAWN SMITH, 
ASHLEY EPP, and  
HOLLY KASUN, 

Defendants.   

ORDER 

Before the Court is Defendants’ (1) Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings and (2) Motion 

for Summary Judgment.  (ECF Nos. 54, 70).  The Court DENIES the motion for judgment on the 

pleadings and DENIES IN PART and GRANTS IN PART the motion for summary judgment for 

the following reasons.  

I. FACTS

Plaintiffs are civil- and voting-rights organizations who have filed this civil action against 

Defendants, raising three claims for relief:  (1) intimidating voters and potential voters in violation 

of 52 U.S.C. § 10307(b); (2) attempting to intimidate voters and potential voters in violation of 52 

U.S.C. § 10307(b); and (3) violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1985.  (ECF No. 1, pp. 12-13).  On April 4, 
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2022, Defendants moved to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 

12(b)(1), which Chief Judge Brimmer denied on April 28, 2022.  (ECF No. 39).  Specifically, the 

Court determined that each Plaintiff had organizational standing under Article III and had 

sufficiently alleged that Defendants’ conduct had caused Plaintiffs a redressable injury.  The Court 

noted that Defendants did not argue that Plaintiffs lacked associational standing and would not 

analyze the issue because it had determined that each Plaintiff had organizational standing.  (ECF 

No. 39, p. 19).  Furthermore, the Court determined that neither party had raised the issue of 

prudential standing and declined to exercise its discretion to consider the issue.  (Id., p. 20).  

 In the instant motion, Defendants move for judgment on the pleadings and summary 

judgment under Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 12(c) and 56.  (ECF Nos. 54, 70).  In their motion 

for judgment on the pleadings, Defendants argue that (1) Plaintiffs lack prudential or statutory 

standing to pursue claims 1 and 2 in the Complaint and (2) Plaintiffs might have statutory standing 

for claim 3, but fail to state a claim because there is no State involvement or invidious 

discriminatory animus.  (ECF No. 54, pp. 3-4).  Defendants similarly argue in their motion for 

summary judgment that:  (1) Plaintiffs’ claims under 52 U.S.C. § 10307(b) and 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3) 

fail because Plaintiffs cannot establish an act of intimidation or attempt to intimidate or that the 

act was done with specific intent; (2) Plaintiffs do not have prudential standing to raise these 

claims; and (3) Defendant USEIP is an unincorporated association and cannot be sued under 52 

U.S.C. § 10307(b) or 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3).  (ECF No. 70, pp. 5-20) 
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II.  LEGAL STANDARD 

A. Rule 12(c) 

 The Court reviews a motion for judgment on the pleadings under Rule 12(c) under the same 

standard as a motion for Rule 12(b)(6).  Adams v. Jones, 577 F. App’x 778, 781 (10th Cir. 2014).  

The Court will not grant a motion for judgment on the pleadings “unless the moving party has 

clearly established that no material issue of fact remains to be resolved and the party is entitled to 

judgment as a matter of law.”  Id. at 782.  Rule 12(g)(2) precludes successive motions under Rule 

12; however, Rule 12(g) is subject to Rule 12(h)(2), which allows parties to raise certain defenses 

in any pleading allowed under Rule 7(a), in a motion for judgment on the pleadings under Rule 

12(c), or at trial.  Albers v. Bd. of Cnty. Comm’rs of Jefferson Cnty., Colo., 771 F.3d 697, 701 (10th 

Cir. 2014). 

 Under Rule 12(b)(6), a court may dismiss a complaint for “failure to state a claim upon 

which relief can be granted.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).  To survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint 

must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true and interpreted in the light most favorable 

to the non-moving party, to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 

556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009); Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007).  Additionally, 

the complaint must sufficiently allege facts supporting all the elements necessary to establish an 

entitlement to relief under the legal theory proposed; however, a complaint may be dismissed 

because it asserts a legal theory not cognizable as a matter of law.  Forest Guardians v. Forsgren, 

478 F.3d 1149, 1160 (10th Cir. 2007); Golan v. Ashcroft, 310 F. Supp. 2d 1215, 1217 (D. Colo. 

2004).  A claim is not plausible on its face “if [the allegations] are so general that they encompass 

a wide swath of conduct, much of it innocent,” and the plaintiff has failed to “nudge[ the] claims 
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across the line from conceivable to plausible.”  Robbins v. Oklahoma, 519 F.3d 1242, 1247 (10th 

Cir. 2008) (quoting Twombly, 550 U.S. at 570).  The standard, however, remains a liberal pleading 

standard, and “a well-pleaded complaint may proceed even if it strikes a savvy judge that actual 

proof of those facts is improbable, and that a recovery is very remote and unlikely.”  Dias v. City 

& Cty. of Denver, 567 F.3d 1169, 1178 (10th Cir. 2009) (internal quotations and citation omitted). 

B. Rule 56 

 Summary judgment is warranted when (1) the movant shows that there is no genuine 

dispute as to any material fact and (2) the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.  Fed. 

R. Civ. P. 56(a).  The factual record and reasonable inferences must be construed in the light most 

favorable to the nonmoving party.  Self v. Crum, 439 F.3d 1227, 1230 (10th Cir. 2006).  The 

moving party bears the initial burden, but once met, the burden shifts to the nonmoving party to 

“set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial.”  Anderson v. Liberty Lobby 

Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 256 (1986).  Ultimately, the Court’s inquiry on summary judgment is whether 

the facts and evidence identified by the parties present “a sufficient disagreement to require 

submission to a jury or whether it is so one-sided that one party must prevail as a matter of law.” 

Anderson, 477 U.S. at 251-52.  “[Q]uestions of intent, which involve intangible factors including 

witness creditability, are matters for consideration of the fact finder after a full trial.”  Prochaska 

v. Marcoux, 632 F.2d 848, 851 (10th Cir. 1980). 

III.  ANALYSIS 

A. Judgment on the Pleadings 

 Defendants raise two arguments in their motion for judgment on the pleadings:  

(1) Plaintiffs lack statutory, or prudential, standing to raise claims under 52 U.S.C. § 10307(b) or 
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42 U.S.C. § 1985(3), and (2) Plaintiffs fail to show state action and racial animus to raise a claim 

under 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3).  (ECF No. 54, pp. 4-14).   

1. Prudential Standing 

 In April 2022, Defendants moved to dismiss the Complaint under Rule 12(b)(1) arguing 

that Plaintiffs lacked standing and failed to demonstrate any injury that would confer standing onto 

each organization.  (ECF No. 27, p. 4).  The Court denied the motion to dismiss, finding that 

Plaintiffs had Article III standing.  The Court noted that Defendants (1) did not address the issue 

of associational standing in their briefing and (2) failed to raise the issue of prudential standing 

and the Court would not examine this issue sua sponte.   

 Prudential standing is not a jurisdictional limitation and may be waived.  The Wilderness 

Soc. v. Kane Cnty., 632 F.3d 1162, 1168 (10th Cir. 2011); Advanced Exteriors, Inc. v. Allstate 

Vehicle & Prop. Ins. Co., No. 21-CV-01539-PAB-STV, 2022 WL 3577260, at *3 (D. Colo. Aug. 

19, 2022).  There are three general principles under the prudential standing doctrine:  (1) “the 

general prohibition on a litigant’s raising another person’s legal rights”; (2) “the rule barring 

adjudication of generalized grievances more appropriately addressed in the representative 

branches”; and (3) “the requirement that a plaintiff’s complaint fall within the zone of interests 

protected by the law invoked.”  Lexmark Int’l, Inc. v. Static Control Components, Inc., 572 U.S. 

118, 126 (2014) (internal quotations and citation omitted).  Contrary to Plaintiffs’ arguments, 

prudential standing was not abandoned by the Supreme Court and is still analyzed by courts in 

some contexts.  Hill v. Warsewa, 947 F.3d 1305, 1309 (10th Cir. 2020).  The Court does not need 

to reach the issue of whether Plaintiffs have prudential standing because (1) Defendants have 
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waived the argument and did not timely raise the argument within their first Rule 12 motion, and 

(2) Plaintiffs have a cause of action under 52 U.S.C. § 10307(b) and 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3).   

 To begin, Defendants, citing Grubbs v. Bailes, 445 F.3d 1275, 1281 (10th Cir. 2006), 

misquote the Tenth Circuit when arguing that courts permit prudential standing to be examined 

under Rule 12(b)(6) motion.  Rather, the Tenth Circuit indicated that courts may disregard the 

issue of prudential standing if the plaintiff had established standing under Article III and the court 

could dispose of the case on the merits.  Specifically, the Tenth Circuit stated:  

It thus appears that plaintiff has asserted a direct injury sufficient to satisfy the 
prudential standing principles in Alcan. We need not, however, definitively resolve 
the matter here. It has been noted on many occasions that the Supreme Court’s 
rejection of the practice of “hypothetical jurisdiction” in Steel Co. v. Citizens for a 
Better Environment, 523 U.S. 83, 118 S.Ct. 1003, 140 L.Ed.2d 210 (1998), 
prohibits federal courts from disposing of claims on the merits without first 
resolving Article III standing issues. Questions relating to prudential standing, 
however, may be pretermitted in favor of a straightforward disposition on the 
merits. 
 

Id. at 1280–81 (emphasis added); see Pretermit, Black’s Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019) (“To 

ignore or disregard purposely”).  Defendants fail to cite any caselaw that indicates that they are 

permitted to raise the issue of prudential standing in a motion under Rule 12(c). 

 Indeed, the Court finds that Defendants have waived this particular argument by failing to 

raise it in their first Rule 12 motion.  In April 2022, Defendants filed the first Rule 12(b) motion 

and did not address the issue of prudential standing.  Then in August 2022, Defendants filed the 

instant motion (styled as a motion under Rule 12(c)) raising the issue of prudential standing after 

the District Court had stated in its prior Order that the argument had not been raised and that the 

Court would not examine the issue sua sponte.  (ECF Nos. 39, pp. 19-20; 54).  The Tenth Circuit 

has clearly held that prudential standing “is not a jurisdictional limitation and may be waived.”  
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Niemi v. Lasshofer, 770 F.3d 1331, 1345 (10th Cir. 2014).  In Niemi, the Tenth Circuit found that 

the defendants had filed an improper second motion to dismiss when challenging the plaintiffs’ 

standing because they had filed a prior Rule 12 motion to dismiss wherein they argued improper 

service of process, lack of personal jurisdiction, and improper venue.  Id. at 1346.  The Tenth 

Circuit found that a challenge to prudential standing did not implicate subject-matter jurisdiction 

and therefore was not a proper motion brought under Rule 12(h)(3), but rather was an 

impermissible second motion to dismiss under Rule 12(g)(2).  Id.  Accordingly, this Court finds 

that Defendants waived the issue of prudential standing because they were aware of this argument 

and failed to include the issue in their first motion to dismiss.  Id. 

 But even if Defendant had not waived this argument,1 the Court still finds that 52 U.S.C. 

§ 10307(b) and 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3) permit a private right of action against private conduct.  The 

Supreme Court clarified in Lexmark “that the question of whether a party falls within the class of 

plaintiffs whom Congress has authorized to sue under a particular statute is not one properly 

labeled as prudential; rather, it is a question of statutory interpretation.”  Niemi, 770 F.3d at 1344 

(internal quotations and citation omitted).  “The judicial task is to interpret the statute Congress 

has passed to determine whether it displays an intent to create not just a private right but also a 

private remedy.”  Alexander v. Sandoval, 532 U.S. 275, 286 (2001).  Accordingly, courts must 

determine whether Congress intended to create a private right of action by:  (1) determining 

whether “rights-creating language” is contained within the statute, and (2) the methods of 

enforcement in the statute “manifest an intent to create a private remedy.”  Id. at 289.   

 
1 Defendants also raise the issue of prudential standing again in their motion for summary judgment, thus the Court 
finds it more efficient to address this issue once rather than ending the analysis at Defendants’ waiver.  (See ECF No. 
70, p. 16). 
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a. 52 U.S.C. § 10307(b) 

 Section 11(b) of the Voting Rights Acts states: 

No person, whether acting under color of law or otherwise, shall intimidate, 
threaten, or coerce, or attempt to intimidate, threaten, or coerce any person for 
voting or attempting to vote, or intimidate, threaten, or coerce, or attempt to 
intimidate, threaten, or coerce any person for urging or aiding any person to vote 
or attempt to vote, or intimidate, threaten, or coerce any person for exercising any 
powers or duties under section 10302(a), 10305, 10306, or 10308(e) of this title or 
section 1973d or 1973g of Title 42. 
 

52 U.S.C. § 10307(b) (emphasis added).  The statute contains rights-creating language that pertains 

to any individual citizen.  Furthermore, a plain reading of the statutory language indicates that 

Congress intended that private action as well as government action be regulated.  League of United 

Latin Am. Citizens - Richmond Region Council 4614 v. Pub. Int. Legal Found., No. 1:18-CV-

00423, 2018 WL 3848404, at *3 (E.D. Va. Aug. 13, 2018) (“Here, the language ‘or otherwise’ 

indicates Congressional intent to reach both government and private conduct under § 11(b).”).  

Moreover, Section 11(b) can be enforced through a civil action by a private individual.  See 

Arizona All. for Retired Americans v. Clean Elections USA, No. CV-22-01823-PHX-MTL, 2022 

WL 15678694, at *3 (D. Ariz. Oct. 28, 2022); Nat’l Coal. on Black Civic Participation v. Wohl, 

512 F. Supp. 3d 500, 509 (S.D.N.Y. 2021); League of United Latin Am. Citizens, 2018 WL 

3848404, at *3; see also Allen v. State Bd. of Elections, 393 U.S. 544, 554-57 (1969) (“We have 

previously held that a federal statute passed to protect a class of citizens, although not specifically 

authorizing members of the protected class to institute suit, nevertheless implied a private right of 

action.”).  In their reply, Defendants argue that “Plaintiffs fail to acknowledge the changing 

landscape of the VRA and subsequent judicial restraint when expanding congressional intent to 

infer private rights of actions.”  (ECF No. 59, p. 2).  However, Defendants fail to cite any caselaw 
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finding that there is no private right of action under 52 U.S.C. § 10307(b) and the Court finds this 

argument unavailing. 

b. 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3) 

 Plaintiffs state that they are pursuing a claim under the “Support or Advocacy Clause” of 

42 U.S.C. § 1985(3).2  (ECF No. 55, p. 8).  This portion of section 3 (italicized) states: 

[I]f two or more persons conspire to prevent by force, intimidation, or threat, any 
citizen who is lawfully entitled to vote, from giving his support or advocacy in a 
legal manner, toward or in favor of the election of any lawfully qualified person as 
an elector for President or Vice President, or as a Member of Congress of the 
United States; or to injure any citizen in person or property on account of such 
support or advocacy; in any case of conspiracy set forth in this section, if one or 
more persons engaged therein do, or cause to be done, any act in furtherance of the 
object of such conspiracy, whereby another is injured in his person or property, or 
deprived of having and exercising any right or privilege of a citizen of the United 
States, the party so injured or deprived may have an action for the recovery of 
damages occasioned by such injury or deprivation, against any one or more of the 
conspirators. 
 

The Supreme Court has determined that “all indicators—text, companion provisions, and 

legislative history—point unwaveringly to § 1985(3)’s coverage of private conspiracies.”  Griffin 

v. Breckenridge, 403 U.S. 88, 101 (1971).  Defendants argue that Plaintiffs are not citizens with a 

 
2 The first clause of 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3) is generally referred to as the “Equal Protection Clause” while the second 
clause of subsection 3 is referred to as the “Support or Advocacy Clause.”  See generally, The Support or Advocacy 
Clause of § 1985(3), 133 Harv. L. Rev. 1382 (2020).  The Equal Protection Clause of § 1985(3) states:  
 

If two or more persons in any State or Territory conspire or go in disguise on the highway or on the 
premises of another, for the purpose of depriving, either directly or indirectly, any person or class 
of persons of the equal protection of the laws, or of equal privileges and immunities under the laws; 
or for the purpose of preventing or hindering the constituted authorities of any State or Territory 
from giving or securing to all persons within such State or Territory the equal protection of the laws. 
 

Under this clause, a plaintiff must show that the conspiracy is aimed “at a deprivation of the equal enjoyment of rights 
secured by the law to all” and was motivated by a “racial” or “class-based, invidiously discriminatory animus.”  Griffin 
v. Breckenridge, 403 U.S. 88, 102 (1971).  Under the Support or Advocacy Clause, there is no need to show racial 
animus.  See Kush v. Rutledge, 460 U.S. 719, 726 (1983).  Defendants concede as much in their reply regarding the 
motion for judgment on the pleadings, thus the Court will not consider this argument in the motion.  (See ECF No. 59, 
pp. 8-9).   
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right to vote and therefore cannot maintain an action for damages.  This argument is unavailing.  

Corporations are “persons” within the meaning of the Fourteenth Amendment’s Equal Protection 

clause and have been treated as plaintiffs under 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3) even though they do not have 

the right to vote.  See Triad Assocs., Inc. v. Chicago Hous. Auth., No. 87 C 5096, 1992 WL 349655, 

at *9 (N.D. Ill. Nov. 13, 1992), aff’d sub nom. Triad Assocs., Inc. v. Robinson, 10 F.3d 492 (7th 

Cir. 1993).  “When an [organization] meets the constitutional test of standing, as [Plaintiffs] 

admittedly [do], prudential considerations should not prohibit [them from] asserting that 

defendants, on racial grounds, are frustrating specific acts of the sort which the [organization] was 

founded to accomplish.”  Hudson Valley Freedom Theater, Inc. v. Heimbach, 671 F.2d 702, 706 

(2d Cir. 1982) (citing Duke Power Co. v. Carolina Env’t Study Grp., Inc., 438 U.S. 59, 80 (1978)).  

Defendants only argue that Plaintiffs cannot vote and therefore cannot raise a claim, which this 

Court finds unavailing.  The Court does not need to delve further into this argument or the 

organizational structure of each Plaintiff.  

* * * 

 Accordingly, Plaintiffs are permitted to bring a private cause of action against Defendants 

under 52 U.S.C. § 10307(b) and 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3).3 

B. Summary Judgment 

 Defendants raise two arguments in their motion for summary judgment:  (1) Plaintiffs fail 

to prove that a voter was intimidated, that Defendants attempted to intimidate a voter, or that 

Defendants’ actions were done with the intent to intimidate voters; and (2) USEIP is an 

unincorporated association and cannot be sued under 52 U.S.C. § 10307(b) or 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3).   

 
3 The Court will not reexamine the issue of prudential standing in Defendants’ motion for summary judgment.  
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(ECF No. 70, pp. 6-20).  Having reviewed the Complaint, the motions and related briefing, and 

the relevant legal authority, the Court finds that there are disputed questions of material fact that 

preclude summary judgment in favor of Defendants on the first issue; however, the Court finds 

that Defendants are entitled to summary judgment on the second issue. 

1. Voter Intimidation 

 Defendants argue that they are entitled to summary judgment because Plaintiffs cannot 

produce evidence that (1) a voter was intimidated by Defendants’ actions or (2) Defendants 

attempted to intimidate voters.  (ECF no. 70, pp. 6, 14).  Section 11(b) prohibits (1) any person 

from (2) intimidating, threatening, or coercing another person or (3) attempting to do so, (4) for 

voting, attempting to vote, urging or aiding another person to vote or (5) attempt to vote or 

exercising any powers or duties under certain provisions listed in the Voting Rights Act.  52 U.S.C. 

§ 10307(b); see Nat’l Coal. on Black Civic Participation, 512 F. Supp. at 509-10.  Furthermore, 

Section 11(b) does not “proscribe only threatening and intimidating language that successfully 

prevents a person from voting” as the attempts to do so are equally proscribed.  Nat’l Coal. on 

Black Civic Participation, 512 F. Supp. 3d at 516.  Finally, there is no requirement in the language 

in Section 11(b) that requires Plaintiffs to establish that Defendants acted with the specific intent 

to intimidate voters.  League of United Latin Am. Citizens, 2018 WL 3848404, at *3. 

 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3) prohibits (1) conspiracy (2) to prevent by force, intimidation, or threat, 

(3) any citizen who is lawfully entitled to vote, from giving his support or advocacy in a legal 

manner, toward or in favor of the election of any lawfully qualified person or (4) to injure any 

citizen in person or property on account of such support or advocacy.  See also Nat’l Coal. on 

Black Civic Participation, 512 F. Supp. 3d at 512.   
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 Defendants argue that Plaintiffs must prove that a voter was intimidated or that Defendants 

attempted to intimidate a voter.  Defendants stated during a deposition that they visited 9,472 

homes and spoke to 4,601 individuals at their homes.  (ECF No. 72-7, p. 24).  Plaintiffs identified 

three voters in its Rule 26(a)(1) disclosures who were contacted by USEIP:  Anne Landman, 

Michelle Garcia, and Yvette Roberts.  (ECF No. 72, pp. 4-5).  Yvette Roberts, a registered 

Colorado voter and resident of Grand Junction, Colorado, submitted a declaration stating that she 

felt intimidated by the members of USEIP who visited her home after the 2020 election.  (ECF 

No. 73, p. 3).  Ms. Roberts states that a man and a woman affiliated with USEIP came to her home 

and asked invasive questions, told her that they had voting information from the state of Colorado, 

wanted to know (1) how she had voted in the last election, (2) who in the household is a citizen, 

and (3) whether she was the only voter in her household.  (Id., p. 2).  Ms. Roberts states that she 

felt intimidated and was concerned by Defendants’ actions and lodged a complaint with the Office 

of the Colorado Secretary of State.  (Id., p. 3).  Defendants deny that the voters identified by 

Plaintiffs were contacted by USEIP members and claim that they did not conduct canvassing 

efforts in Mesa County.  (ECF No. 76, p. 2).  Accordingly, there is a genuine dispute as to any 

material facts and the issue should be left to the factfinder.  Accordingly, the Court denies 

Defendants’ motion for summary judgment on this issue.  

2. Unincorporated Associations 

 Defendants argue that Defendant USEIP is an unincorporated association and, therefore, 

cannot be sued as a “person” under 52 U.S.C. § 10307(b) or 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3).  (ECF No. 70, 

p. 18).  Defendants cite Lippoldt v. Cole, 468 F.3d 1204, 1211 (10th Cir. 2006), wherein the Tenth 
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Circuit determined that an unincorporated association was not a “person” entitled to sue under 42 

U.S.C. § 1983.4   

 In Lippoldt, wherein an anti-abortion association and members brought a § 1983 action 

against the city of Wichita, the Tenth Circuit reasoned that an unincorporated association could 

only “be a Section 1983 plaintiff” if it was a “person” within the jurisdiction of the United States.  

Id. at 1212.  In light of Monell v. Dep’t of Soc. Servs. of City of New York, 436 U.S. 658 (1978) 

and its progeny, the Tenth Circuit considered the “(1) the legislative history of Section 1983, 

(2) the general understanding, as of 1871, regarding the legal personality of unincorporated 

associations, and (3) the Dictionary Act of 1871.”  Id. at 1213.  The Court determined that there 

was no “general understanding in 1871, when the precursor to Section 1983 was passed, that 

unincorporated associations should be treated as natural persons” that could sue a municipality and 

that “the language of the Dictionary Act of 1871 also shows that unincorporated associations were 

not intended to be ‘persons’ for Section 1983 purposes.”  Id. at 1213-14 (“Neither is a person in 

law, and, unless authorized by statute, they have no capacity to sue.”).  “In sum, none of the 

aforementioned factors, legislative history, general understanding, or the Dictionary Act of 1871, 

suggest Congress’ intent to entitle unincorporated associations to seek redress under Section 

1983.”  Id. at 1215. 

 Furthermore, in Becker v. Ute Indian Tribe of the Uintah & Ouray Rsrv., 868 F.3d 1199, 

1202 (10th Cir. 2017), a contractor brought an action against the Ute Indian Tribe of the Uintah 

 
4 Defendants also cite Hidden Lake Dev. Co. v. Dist. Ct. In & For Adams Cnty., 515 P.2d 632, 635 (Colo. 1973) and 
Johnson v. Chilcott, 599 F. Supp. 224 (D. Colo. 1984) for the proposition that an unincorporated association must 
have, inter alia, bylaws, a stated purpose, and officers in order to exist.  However, these arguments are unavailing as 
this inquiry is for a court when determining the existence of an unincorporated association under Colorado law and 
not a person under 52 U.S.C. § 10307(b) or 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3).   
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and Ouray Reservation and the tribe filed counterclaims against the contractor and sought to enjoin 

the state-court proceedings under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 on the ground that the state court action 

violated the Tribe’s due-process rights.  The Tenth Circuit again reaffirmed its narrow definition 

of the term “person,” noting that the Tribe was not a person under 42 U.S.C. § 1983:  

We recognize that Ute Energy Holdings, LLC, is also a plaintiff. But we said in 
Lippoldt v. Cole, 468 F.3d 1204 (10th Cir. 2006), that unincorporated associations 
are not persons entitled to sue under § 1983, and Ute Energy has presented no 
argument why an LLC should be distinguished from other unincorporated 
associations in this respect.5 
 

Becker v. Ute Indian Tribe of the Uintah & Ouray Rsrv., 868 F.3d 1199, 1206 n.5 (10th Cir. 2017) 

(emphasis added).  The Tenth Circuit again reaffirmed such a narrow reading of the word “person” 

in United States v. Doe, 572 F.3d 1162, 1169-70 (10th Cir. 2009), wherein the defendants argued 

that the use of “person” in 18 U.S.C. § 1153 only applied to living individuals.  The Tenth Circuit 

determined that a victim under 18 U.S.C. § 1153, was defined as “living individuals and 

corporations, but [not] unincorporated associations.”  Id.  However, the Tenth Circuit noted that 

“the Dictionary Act definition does not apply if “the context indicates otherwise.”  Hobby Lobby 

Stores, Inc. v. Sebelius, 723 F.3d 1114, 1129–30 (10th Cir. 2013), aff’d sub nom. Burwell v. Hobby 

Lobby Stores, Inc., 573 U.S. 682 (2014).  The Tenth Circuit clarified that context means “the text 

of the Act of Congress surrounding the word at issue, or the text of other related congressional 

Acts.”  Id.   

 Here, the Court, being bound by Tenth Circuit precedent, finds that it must grant summary 

judgment to Defendants on their claim that USEIP, as an unincorporated association, cannot be 

 
5 Arguably, by Defendants’ own logic, Defendant USEIP would be barred from raising counterclaims against 
Plaintiffs.  Regardless, the Court dismissed Defendants’ counterclaims for failure to state a claim under Rule 12(b)(6).  
(ECF No. 81).   
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sued under 52 U.S.C. § 10307(b) or 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3).  As the Tenth Circuit has previously 

noted, “[w]hile there is no per se rule of statutory interpretation that identical words used in 

different parts of the same act are intended to have the same meaning, there is a presumption that 

this is so.”  Lippoldt, 468 F.3d at 1213.  In Lippoldt and Becker, the Tenth Circuit determined that 

unincorporated associations could not seek relief under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 as plaintiffs.  Here, 

USEIP is a defendant in this case; however, the Tenth Circuit in Lippoldt noted that common law 

“essentially held that unincorporated associations lacked the capacity to sue or be sued” and that 

it would it strain the court’s analysis to hold that an entity could be considered a “person” under 

one clause of the statute but not a “person” within another clause of the same statute.  Lippoldt, 

468 F.3d at 1212-13 (quoting Rural Water Dist. No. 1, Ellsworth Cnty. v. City of Wilson, 243 F.3d 

1263, 1274 (10th Cir. 2001)).  Accordingly, the Court finds that an unincorporated association 

cannot be considered a person, whether as a plaintiff or a defendant, under 52 U.S.C. § 10307(b) 

or 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3).   

While this Court agrees with Plaintiffs that the Tenth Circuit’s holding in Lippoldt “stands 

alone against the trend of treating unincorporated associations as ‘persons,’” that does not permit 

this Court to ignore binding precedent.  See Fort Lauderdale Food Not Bombs v. City of Fort 

Lauderdale, 11 F.4th 1266, 1283 (11th Cir. 2021).6  Accordingly, this Court finds that Defendants 

 
6 This Court respectfully disagrees with the conclusion in Lippoldt and finds the Eleventh Circuit’s analysis persuasive.  
First, the Tenth Circuit only defined the term “person” by the general understanding in 1871 and examined the 
legislative history of the 1871 Civil Rights Act and the 1871 Dictionary Act, but failed to examine the developments 
that occurred after 1871.  Indeed, as the Eleventh Circuit noted, “Congress re-enacted the word ‘person’ in § 1983 
twice after intervening developments in federal law clarified that unincorporated associations were ‘persons.’”  Fort 
Lauderdale Food Not Bombs, 11 F.4th at 1283.  The ramifications of concluding that an unincorporated association 
is not a person under 42 U.S.C. 1985(3) based on a definition frozen in 1871 cannot be ignored given the history of 
the Ku Klux Klan Act when enacted within the Civil Rights Act of 1871.  Indeed, during the Reconstruction Era when 
the legislation was passed, the Ku Klux Klan and private individuals were acting in concert to “subvert state law 
enforcement mechanisms and insure unequal application of state law.”  Stephanie M. Wildman, 42 U.S.C.A. § 
1985(3)—A Private Action to Vindicate Fourteenth Amendment Rights: A Paradox Resolved, 17 SAN DIEGO L REV 
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are entitled to summary judgment for this particular claim and Defendant USEIP is dismissed from 

the case.  

IV.  CONCLUSION 

 Accordingly, Defendants’ Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings is DENIED and the 

Motion for Summary Judgment is DENIED IN PART AND GRANTED IN PART consistent with 

the analysis above.  (ECF Nos. 54, 70).  Defendant USEIP is DISMISSED from the case.   

 DATED this 31st day of January 2023.  
        

   BY THE COURT:   
   

    
  ___________________________________  
  Charlotte N. Sweeney 
  United States District Judge 

 
317, 321 (1980).  Moreover, the term, unincorporated association, was a relatively recent legal development at the 
time that the Ku Klux Klan Act was being drafted, thus explaining why this term was not listed in the initial version 
of the Dictionary Act in 1871: 
 

In the interval between the acceptance of the principle that a corporation in English law arises only 
as a result of state concession, and the passing of the first Companies Act in 1862, there were 
established many unincorporated associations, some of them of very great importance. Such an 
association enjoyed no legal existence distinct from that of its members. Its legal status was simply 
that of an association of persons, linked by contract, and the rights of members were determined by 
their contractual rights, in respect of the association. 
 

Association, Black’s Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019) (citing G.W. Keeton, The Elementary Principles of 
Jurisprudence 169 (2d ed. 1949)).  What results from Lippoldt is that civil rights organizations cannot seek relief 
against unincorporated associations under 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3) to halt an allegedly discriminatory conspiracy 
committed by the group’s members – which is entirely contrary to the purpose and history of the Ku Klux Klan Act.  
See generally, Griffin, 403 U.S. at 97.  The Supreme Court instructs courts to examine the context of the text, the Act 
of Congress surrounding the word at issue, or the text of other related congressional acts.  Rowland v. California 
Men’s Colony, Unit II Men’s Advisory Council, 506 U.S. 194, 199 (1993).  The Dictionary Act also gives the courts 
context about how to determine the meaning of a word or phrase in an Act of Congress, however, the Supreme Court 
noted that the inquiry permits a court to not accept a definition in the Dictionary Act if it is a “poor fit” with the text 
of the statute.  Rowland, 506 U.S. at 200 (“Where a court needs help is in the awkward case where Congress provides 
no particular definition, but the definition in 1 U.S.C. § 1 seems not to fit. There it is that the qualification ‘unless the 
context indicates otherwise’ has a real job to do, in excusing the court from forcing a square peg into a round hole.”).  
By ignoring the context of the Ku Klux Klan Act, and disregarding congressional action thereafter, which continued 
to utilize the term “person” after federal law made clear that unincorporated associations were “persons” under the 
law, it does appear that this result is contrary to the text and meaning under 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3).   
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ZLOO�RU�GHVLUH���

,W�LV�ZHOO�VHWWOHG�WKDW�WKHUH
V�D�SULYDWH�ULJKW�RI�

DFWLRQ�XQGHU�6HFWLRQ����E���DQG�LW
V�DOVR�HTXDOO\�VHWWOHG�WKDW�

LW�GRHV�QRW�UHTXLUH�SODLQWLIIV�WR�HVWDEOLVK�WKDW�GHIHQGDQWV�

DFWHG�ZLWK�VSHFLILF�LQWHQW�WR�LQWLPLGDWH�YRWHUV���:H�PXVW�

IRFXV�RQ�WKH�DFWV�RI�GHIHQGDQWV�GLUHFWO\�RU�WKRVH�RI�RWKHUV�

ZKR�WKH\�VSHFLILFDOO\�GLUHFWHG�RU�FRQWUROOHG���

7KH�VHFRQG�FODLP�LV�XQGHU�WKH�.X�.OX[�.ODQ�$FW�����

8�6�&��6HFWLRQ����������ZKLFK�SURKLELWV�FRQVSLULQJ�WR�SUHYHQW�

E\�IRUFH��LQWLPLGDWLRQ��RU�WKUHDW�DQ\�FLWL]HQ�IURP�JLYLQJ�

VXSSRUW�RU�DGYRFDF\�WR�D�FDQGLGDWH��ZKLFK�VLPSO\�PHDQV�LQ�WKLV�

FRQWH[W�LQWHUIHULQJ�ZLWK�WKH�ULJKW�WR�YRWH���/HW�PH�MXVW�

UHPLQG�HYHU\RQH�KHUH�WKDW�WKH�8QLWHG�6WDWHV�(OHFWLRQ�,QWHJULW\�

3ODQ�LV�QRW�D�GHIHQGDQW���7KH\�ZHUH�GLVPLVVHG�HDUOLHU�LQ�WKH�

FDVH�EHFDXVH�QR�DFWLRQ�H[LVWV�XQGHU�WKH�DERYH�VWDWXWHV�DJDLQVW�

DQ�XQLQFRUSRUDWHG�DVVRFLDWLRQ��VR�WKDW�KDV�OHIW�XV�ZLWK�WKUHH�

LQGLYLGXDO�GHIHQGDQWV���

/HW�PH�MXVW�QRWH�WKDW�LW�VHHPV�WKDW�DOO�SDUWLHV�ZDQW�

WKLV�FDVH�WR�EH�DERXW�VRPHWKLQJ�LW�LV�QRW�DERXW���,W
V�QRW�

DERXW�WKH�-DQXDU\��WK�LQVXUUHFWLRQ�RU�WKH�KLVWRU\�RI�YRWHU�

LQWLPLGDWLRQ�LQ�WKLV�FRXQWU\���,W
V�QRW�DERXW�WKH�GHIHQGDQWV
�

FROOHFWLYH�EHOLHI�WKDW�WKHUH�ZDV�HOHFWLRQ�IUDXG���,W
V�QRW�

DERXW�WKH�VHFXULW\�RU�ODFN�RI�VHFXULW\�RI�HOHFWLRQV�LQ�

&RORUDGR���,W
V�QRW�DERXW�DOOHJHG�YXOQHUDELOLWLHV�RI�YRWLQJ�

PDFKLQHV�LQ�&RORUDGR��DQG�LW
V�QRW�DERXW�WKH�DFWLRQV�RU�
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LQDFWLRQV�RI�WKH�VHFUHWDU\�RI�VWDWH�LQ�&RORUDGR���,W
V�

FHUWDLQO\�QRW�DERXW�ZKR�LV�SD\LQJ�IRU�WKLV�OLWLJDWLRQ�IRU�

HLWKHU�SDUW\����DQ\�SDUW\���

7KHVH�DUH�DOO�VLGHVKRZV��DQG�,�ZDV�FDUHIXO�WR�WU\�DQG�

UHHO�WKRVH�VLGHVKRZV�LQ�WR�IRFXV�XV�RQ�WKH�VROH�LVVXH�ZKLFK�LV�

EHIRUH�WKLV�&RXUW�ZKLFK�LV�GLG�WKH�SODLQWLIIV�SURYH�WKDW�

GHIHQGDQWV�YLRODWHG�6HFWLRQ����E��RI�WKH�9RWHU�5LJKWV�$FW�RU�

���8�6�&��6HFWLRQ�����������$QG�IRU�SXUSRVHV�RI�5XOH�����,�DP�

QRZ�ORRNLQJ�DW�ZKHWKHU�RU�QRW�WKHUH�LV�DQ\�HYLGHQFH�WR�DOORZ�

WKH�&RXUW�WR�ILQG�LQ�WKH�SODLQWLIIV
�IDYRU�RQ�WKH�LVVXH�RI�

YRWHU�LQWLPLGDWLRQ���)RU�WKH�IROORZLQJ�UHDVRQV��,�ILQG�WKHUH�

LV�QRW���

$IWHU�FRQVLGHUDWLRQ�RI�WKH�HYLGHQFH��,�PDNH�WKH�

IROORZLQJ�ILQGLQJV�RI�IDFW���7KHUH
V�OLWWOH�GLVSXWH�DERXW�HDFK�

GHIHQGDQWV
�UROH�LQ�IRUPLQJ�RU�ZRUNLQJ�ZLWK�WKH�86(,3��

LQFOXGLQJ�ZKHWKHU��ZKHUH��DQG�KRZ�RIWHQ�HDFK�GHIHQGDQW�

FDQYDVVHG�&RORUDGR�YRWHUV���7KH�&RXUW�ZLOO�EULHIO\�VXPPDUL]H�

WKH�WHVWLPRQ\�RI�WKH�GHIHQGDQWV��SODLQWLIIV
�RQH�

UHSUHVHQWDWLYH�FDOOHG��DQG�WKH�UHPDLQLQJ�ZLWQHVVHV�FDOOHG�E\�

WKH�SODLQWLIIV���

0U��6PLWK�WHVWLILHG�DV�WR�KLV�LQWHUHVW�LQ�WKH�

LQWHJULW\�RI�HOHFWLRQV���)ROORZLQJ�WKH������HOHFWLRQ��KH�VHW�

DERXW�D�FRXUVH�RI�FRQGXFW�WR�FRQGXFW�DQ�LQYHVWLJDWLRQ��LQ�KLV�

PLQG���+H�VKRUWO\�WKHUHDIWHU�PHW�'HIHQGDQWV�(SS�DQG�.DVXQ��DQG�

KH�ZDV�SURPSWHG�WR�JHW�LQYROYHG�ZLWK�WKH�86(,3�DW�WKH�HQG�RI�
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)HEUXDU\��������+H�DGPLWV�WR�EHLQJ�D�PHPEHU�RI�WKH�FRUH�WHDP�

RI�86(,3��DORQJ�ZLWK�-HII�<RXQJ��0V��.DVXQ�DQG�0V��(SS���+H�

DWWHQGHG�ZHHNO\�PHHWLQJV�RI�WKH�FRUH�WHDP���0U��6PLWK�EHOLHYHV�

WKHUH
V�QRW�HQRXJK�LQIRUPDWLRQ�WR�YHULI\�WKH������HOHFWLRQ�DQG�

EHOLHYHV�WKHUH
V�EHHQ�ODUJH�VFDOH�HOHFWLRQ�IUDXG���1RQH�RI�

WKDW�DFWXDOO\�PDWWHUV���:KDW�PDWWHUV�LV�ZKHWKHU�RU�QRW�KH�

HQJDJHG�LQ�SURYHQ�DFWLRQV�WKDW�FDQ�EH�VDLG�WR�REMHFWLYHO\�

LQWLPLGDWH�YRWHUV���

0U��6PLWK�FRQGXFWHG�WKUHH�GD\V�RI�FDQYDVVLQJ�LQ�:HOG�

DQG�(O�3DVR�&RXQWLHV�DV�SDUW�RI�WKH�YRWHU�YHULILFDWLRQ�HIIRUW�

XQGHUWDNHQ�E\�86(,3���6XFK�HIIRUW�ZDV�ORRVHO\�GHVLJQHG�WR�WHVW�

DFFXUDF\�RI�YRWHU�UHJLVWUDWLRQ�DQG�YRWHU�KLVWRU\���7KLV�

RFFXUUHG�GXULQJ�WKH�VSULQJ�RI��������7KH�WHVWLPRQ\�RI�DOO�RI�

WKH�GHIHQGDQWV
�ZLWQHVVHV�LQGLFDWH�LW�ZDV�GXULQJ�$SULO�WKURXJK�

$XJXVW���7KH�YRWHU�YHULILFDWLRQ�JXLGH��ZKLFK�KDV�EHHQ�DGPLWWHG�

LQWR�HYLGHQFH��LV�FOHDU�RQ�KRZ�RQH�PXVW�JR�DERXW�FDQYDVVLQJ���

7KH�JXLGH�PDNHV�SHUIHFWO\�FOHDU�WKDW�FDQYDVVHUV�DUH�

WR�EH�SROLWH���7KH\�PD\�JR�WZR�WR�D�KRXVH���2QH�VKRXOG�JR�WR�

WKH�GRRU���2QH�VKRXOG�VWD\�EDFN�VR�DV�QRW�WR�LQWLPLGDWH�

SHRSOH���,I�WKHUH
V�D�WUHVSDVVLQJ�VLJQ��WKH\
UH�DGYLVHG�QRW�WR�

HQWHU�WKDW�SURSHUW\���0U��6PLWK�ZDV�DQ�LQWHJUDO�SDUW�RI�

GUDIWLQJ�WKDW�YRWHU�UHJLVWUDWLRQ�JXLGH���

7KURXJKRXW�������86(,3�FDQYDVVHG�DSSUR[LPDWHO\�������

GRRUV���������SHRSOH�ZHUH�FRQWDFWHG���,PSRUWDQWO\��WKH�

WHVWLPRQ\�UHYHDOV�WKDW�RWKHU�RUJDQL]DWLRQV�PD\�KDYH�EHHQ�
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FDQYDVVLQJ�LQ�0HVD�&RXQW\���:KDW�LV�FOHDU�WKURXJK�WKH�

WHVWLPRQ\�RI�GHIHQGDQWV�WKDW�KDV�JRQH�XQUHEXWWHG�LV�WKDW�86(,3�

GLG�QRW�FDQYDVV�LQ�0HVD�&RXQW\���7KH�&RXUW�KDV�UHYLHZHG�WKH�

SOD\ERRN�DQG�WKH�YRWHU�YHULILFDWLRQ�WUDLQLQJ�JXLGH�LQ�GHWDLO���

7KH�SDUWLHV�KLJKOLJKWHG�VRPH�SDUWV�RI�WKRVH�GRFXPHQWV��EXW�WKH�

&RXUW�KDV�WKRURXJKO\�UHYLHZHG�WKHP�DOO���7KH�&RXUW�ILQGV�

QRWKLQJ�LQ�HLWKHU�GRFXPHQW�WKDW�LV�UHPRWHO\�RU�REMHFWLYHO\�

LQWLPLGDWLQJ�RQ�LWV�IDFH���

7KH�YRWHU�YHULILFDWLRQ�JXLGH�ZDV�SURYLGHG�WR�FRXQW\�

FDSWDLQV��DV�DOVR�D�FDSWDLQ
V�PDQXDO�ZDV�SURYLGHG���,Q�

UHYLHZLQJ�WKH�KLVWRU\�RI�0V��(SS
V�FRQWDFWV�ZLWK�FRXQW\�

FDSWDLQV��LW�DSSHDUV�WKDW�LQGLYLGXDO�FRXQWLHV�ZHUH�VRPHZKDW�

RUJDQL]HG�RQ�WKHLU�RZQ���7KH�PHHWLQJV�KHOG�ZLWK�FDSWDLQV�ZHUH�

SULPDULO\�WR�JHW�XSGDWHV�IURP�LQGLYLGXDO�FRXQW\�FDSWDLQV��DQG�

WKDW�ZDV�WKH�SXUSRVH�RI�WKRVH�PHHWLQJV���7KHUH�ZDV�QR�HYLGHQFH�

RI�ZKDW�FDQYDVVHUV�LQ�0HVD�&RXQW\�ZHUH�WUDLQHG�WR�GR���

$SSDUHQWO\�WKH\�GLG����0HVD�&RXQW\�FDQYDVVHUV�RU�WKH�FDSWDLQ�

GLG�UHFHLYH�D�FRS\�RI�DQ�HDUO\�YHUVLRQ�RI�WKH�YRWHU�

YHULILFDWLRQ�PDWHULDOV�RI�86(,3��EXW�LW�LV�XQFOHDU�WR�WKLV�

&RXUW�LI�WKH\�ZHUH�DFWXDOO\�XVLQJ�WKDW�PDQXDO�RU�XVLQJ�D�

PDQXDO�RI�WKHLU�RZQ���

:LWK�UHVSHFW�WR�0U��6PLWK��WKH�PRVW�FRQFHUQLQJ�DFWLRQ�

ZDV�D�VSHHFK�KH�JDYH�LQ�)HEUXDU\�RI������DW�DQ�HYHQW�DW�D�

FKXUFK�LQ�&DVWOH�5RFN���$SSDUHQWO\�0U��6PLWK�PDGH�D�FRPPHQW�

DERXW�WUHDVRQ�DQG�WKH�QRWLRQ�WKDW�DQ\RQH�LQYROYHG�LQ�HOHFWLRQ�

Case No. 1:22-cv-00581-CNS-NRN     Document 190     filed 07/30/24     USDC Colorado 
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IUDXG�LV�FRPPLWWLQJ�WUHDVRQ�DQG�GHVHUYHV�WR�KDQJ���7KLV�ZDV�

ZHOO�DIWHU����WKLV�FRPPHQW�ZDV�PDGH�ZHOO�DIWHU�FDQYDVVLQJ�KDG�

FHDVHG���7KH�&RXUW��RI�FRXUVH��GRHV�QRW�FRQGRQH�WKLV�W\SH�RI�

ODQJXDJH��QRU�WKH�DFWLRQ�LW�DSSDUHQWO\�HOLFLWHG�IURP�IRONV�LQ�

WKH�FURZG��EXW�WKDW�LV�FHUWDLQO\�QRW�WKH�VWDQGDUG�IRU�YRWHU�

LQWLPLGDWLRQ��DQG�SODLQWLIIV�KDYH�HVWDEOLVKHG�QR�FRQQHFWLRQ�

EHWZHHQ�WKLV�VWDWHPHQW�DQG�DQ�DWWHPSW�WR�LQWLPLGDWH�DQ\�

SDUWLFXODU�YRWHU�RU�JURXS�RI�YRWHUV��PXFK�OHVV�KRZ�WKH�

VWDWHPHQW�LQ�)HEUXDU\������FDQ�EH�XVHG�WR�SURYH�WKDW�WKH�

DOOHJHG�LQWLPLGDWLQJ�QDWXUH�RI�FDQYDVVLQJ�RFFXUUHG�EDFN�D�IXOO�

VL[�PRQWKV�SULRU���

0V��(SS�IRU�KHU�SDUW�ZDV�RQH�RI�WKH�IRXQGHUV�RI�WKH�

RUJDQL]DWLRQ�LQ�1RYHPEHU�RI��������6KH�WHVWLILHG�WKDW�WKH�

SXUSRVH�RI�WKH�RUJDQL]DWLRQ�ZDV�WR�YHULI\�WKH�RIILFLDO�UHFRUG�

WR�HQVXUH�WKH�LQWHJULW\�RI�WKH�HOHFWLRQV���6KH�ZDV�D�PHPEHU�RI�

WKH�FRUH�WHDP���6KH�KHUVHOI�FDQYDVVHG�WKUHH�WLPHV��WZLFH�LQ�(O�

3DVR�DQG�RQFH�LQ�'RXJODV�&RXQW\���1HYHU�LQ�0HVD�RU�:HOG�

&RXQWLHV���7KHUH
V�QR�HYLGHQFH�WKDW
V�EHHQ�SURYLGHG�WKDW�VKH�

GLG�DQ\WKLQJ�SHUVRQDOO\�GXULQJ�FDQYDVVLQJ�WR�LQWLPLGDWH�D�

YRWHU���

$JDLQ��LW�LV�ZRUWK�KLJKOLJKWLQJ�WKDW�WKHUH�LV�QR�

HYLGHQFH�WKDW�GHIHQGDQWV�FDQYDVVHG�LQ�0HVD�&RXQW\�ZKHUH�*UDQG�

-XQFWLRQ�VLWV���$OWKRXJK�WKHUH�ZDV�VRPH�WHVWLPRQ\�DERXW�WKLV�

DWWHQXDWHG�FRQQHFWLRQ�EHWZHHQ�WKH�FDQYDVVLQJ�LQ�0HVD�&RXQW\�

DQG�86(,3��WKH�HYLGHQFH�GRHV�QRW�HVWDEOLVK�WKDW�86(,3�ZDV�

Case No. 1:22-cv-00581-CNS-NRN     Document 190     filed 07/30/24     USDC Colorado 
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FRQWUROOLQJ�WKDW�FDQYDVVLQJ�RU��IUDQNO\��KDG�DQ\�SDUW�LQ�

FRQWUROOLQJ�WKH�FDQYDVVHUV�WKHUH�RU�GLFWDWLQJ�ZKDW�WKRVH�

FDQYDVVHUV�VDLG�WR�DQ\�LQGLYLGXDO�YRWHUV���

7KH�FDQYDVVHUV�LQ�0HVD�&RXQW\�ZHUH�DSSDUHQWO\�XVLQJ�

GLIIHUHQW�GDWDVHWV��VSHFLILFDOO\�LQIRUPDWLRQ�WKDW�WKH\�KDG�

UHFHLYHG�IURP�WKH�FRXQW\�FOHUN
V�RIILFH��ZKHUHDV�86(,3�

FDQYDVVHUV�ZHUH�UHO\LQJ�RQ�LQIRUPDWLRQ�REWDLQHG�IURP�WKH�

VHFUHWDU\�RI�VWDWH���0V��(SS�FUHDWHG�WKH�SOD\ERRN���6KH�

WHVWLILHG�LW�ZDV�QRW�D�WUDLQLQJ�GRFXPHQW��QRW�XVHG�LQ�

WUDLQLQJ���,W�ZDV�IRU�NQRZOHGJH�VKDULQJ���,Q�UHYLHZ�RI�WKH�

SOD\ERRN��LW�LV�FOHDU�WKDW�LW�DSSHDUV�WR�EH�D�SOD\ERRN�WKDW�

JRYHUQV�RUJDQL]LQJ�IRU�YDULRXV�JURXSV�WKDW�FRXOG�EH�XVHG�E\�

JURXSV�WR�UHDOO\�JHW�WKHLU�RZQ�JURXSV�LQ�RUGHU��DQG�LW��LQ�

IDFW��GLG�QRW�UHDOO\�HYHQ�DGGUHVV�FDQYDVVLQJ���

7KHUH�LV�DQ�DSSHQGL[�ZKHUH�DSSDUHQWO\�IRONV�FRXOG�DVN�

IRU�PRUH�LQIRUPDWLRQ�RQ�RWKHU�WUDLQLQJ�PDWHULDOV��EXW�ZLWKLQ�

WKH�SOD\ERRN�LWVHOI�WKHUH�ZDV�QR�JXLGH�IRU�FDQYDVVLQJ�DQG�QR�

JXLGH�RQ�YRWHU�YHULILFDWLRQ�HIIRUWV���7KH�FODLPV�DJDLQVW�

0V��(SS�DSSHDU�WR�EH�EDVHG�VROHO\�RQ�KHU�IRXQGLQJ�RI�86(,3�

DQG�RU�KHU�VWDWXV�DV�D�PHPEHU�RI�WKH�FRUH�WHDP���:KDW�LV�

QRWDEO\�ODFNLQJ��KRZHYHU��LV�DQ\�HYLGHQFH�WKDW�VKH�RU�DQ\RQH�

XQGHU�KHU�GLUHFWLRQ�DWWHPSWHG�WR�LQWLPLGDWH�D�YRWHU���'LG�VKH�

DWWHPSW�WR�RUJDQL]H"��<HV���'LG�VKH�SURYLGH�D�PDQXDO�IRU�

RUJDQL]LQJ"��$EVROXWHO\���'RHV�WKH�PDQXDO�FRQWDLQ�K\SHUEROH�RU�

IDOVH�LQIRUPDWLRQ"��0D\EH���%XW��DJDLQ��WKDW�LV�QRW�WKH�LVVXH�
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LQ�IURQW�RI�WKLV�&RXUW���7KHUH�LV�QR�REMHFWLYH�HIIRUW�WR�

LQWLPLGDWH�YRWHUV�WKURXJK�WKH�FUHDWLRQ�RI�WKDW�GRFXPHQW���1R�

VXFK�HYLGHQFH�WKDW�WKDW�GRFXPHQW�ZDV�WKHUHDIWHU�XVHG�E\�RWKHUV�

WR�LQWLPLGDWH�YRWHUV�KDV�EHHQ�SUHVHQWHG�WR�WKH�&RXUW���

7XUQLQJ�WR�'HIHQGDQW�.DVXQ��RI�WKH�WKUHH�GHIHQGDQWV��

WKH�OHDVW�DPRXQW�RI�LQIRUPDWLRQ�KDV�EHHQ�SURYLGHG�DERXW�KHU�

DOOHJHG�ZURQJGRLQJ���6KH�WHVWLILHG�WKDW�VKH�WRR�ZDV�D�IRXQGLQJ�

PHPEHU�RI�86(,3��VKH�KHOSHG�IRUP�WKH�RUJDQL]DWLRQ�LQ�������

DQG��OLNH�KHU�FRGHIHQGDQWV��ZDV�D�PHPEHU�RI�WKH�FRUH�WHDP���

6KH�WHVWLILHG�VKH�ZDV�LQ�FKDUJH�RI�SUHVV�IRU�86(,3�DQG�KDQGOHG�

PDQ\�SUHVV�LQTXLULHV���

'HIHQGDQW�.DVXQ�KHUVHOI�QHYHU�FDQYDVVHG��DQG�WKHUH�

DUH�QR�DOOHJDWLRQV�WKDW�VKH�GLG�LQGLYLGXDOO\�HQJDJH�LQ�FRQGXFW�

WKDW�ZDV�LQWLPLGDWLQJ�WR�DQ\�SDUWLFXODU�YRWHU���+HU�

LQYROYHPHQW�LV�DSSDUHQWO\�GXH�WR�KHU�EHLQJ�D�VSRNHVSHUVRQ�IRU�

86(,3��EXW�QR�ODQJXDJH�KDV�EHHQ�VHW�IRUWK�IRU�WKLV�&RXUW�WKDW�

FRXOG�EH�FRQVWUXHG�DV�REMHFWLYHO\�LQWLPLGDWLQJ���7KH�EULHI�

H[FHUSWV�RI�D�UDGLR�LQWHUYLHZ�WKDW�SODLQWLIIV�LQWURGXFHG�

ZKROO\�IDLO�WR�GHPRQVWUDWH�DQ\�DWWHPSW�WR�LQWLPLGDWH�YRWHUV�

DQG��LQ�IDFW��UHLWHUDWHG�WKH�EHQLJQ�QDWXUH�RI�WKH�FDQYDVVLQJ�

WKDW�ZDV�RQJRLQJ���

3ODLQWLIIV�FDOOHG�&KULVWRSKHU�%HDOO��RU�&KULV�%HDOO��

WKH�'HSXW\�6HFUHWDU\�RI�6WDWH�LQ�VXSSRUW�RI�WKHLU�FODLPV���

0U��%HDOO�WHVWLILHG�WKDW�WKH�VHFUHWDU\�RI�VWDWH
V�RIILFH�

UHFHLYHG�WZR�H�PDLOV�UHJDUGLQJ�DOOHJHG�86(,3�DFWLYLWLHV��RQH�
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IURP�<YHWWH�5REHUWV�DQG�RQH�IURP�D�0V��3RZHOO��ERWK�LQ�0HVD�

&RXQW\���0U��%HDOO�DOVR�FODLPHG�WKDW�FRXQW\�FOHUNV�UHFHLYHG�

FRPSODLQW�FDOOV���+RZHYHU��WKHUH�ZDV�QR�DGPLVVLEOH�WHVWLPRQ\�

RIIHUHG�UHJDUGLQJ�WKRVH�DOOHJHG�FRPSODLQWV�EHFDXVH�WKRVH�

FRPSODLQWV�ZHUH�QHYHU�GRFXPHQWHG���

2QH�ZRXOG�H[SHFW�WKH�FRXQW\�FOHUNV�DQG�RU�WKH�

VHFUHWDU\�RI�VWDWH
V�RIILFH�WR�GRFXPHQW�RIILFLDO�FRPSODLQWV�LQ�

VRPH�ZD\��VKDSH��RU�IRUP��EXW�QR�VXFK�GRFXPHQWDWLRQ�H[LVWV���

$V�VXFK��WKH�&RXUW�GHHPHG�WKDW�WKRVH�FRPSODLQWV�FRXOG�QRW�EH�

FRQVLGHUHG�LQ�WKLV�DFWLRQ���7KHUH�ZDV�QR�UHDO�LQYHVWLJDWLRQ�E\�

WKH�VHFUHWDU\�RI�VWDWH�LQWR�WKH�WZR�H�PDLOV�UHFHLYHG���7KRVH�

ZHUH�WXUQHG�RYHU�WR�DXWKRULWLHV��DQG�QR�FKDUJHV�ZHUH�ILOHG���

$�UHYLHZ�RI�WKRVH�H�PDLOV�VLPSO\�GRHV�QRW�VXSSRUW�DQ\�

FODLP�RI�YRWHU�LQWLPLGDWLRQ���7KHUH�ZHUH�QR�DFWLYH�WKUHDWV��QR�

LQWLPLGDWLQJ�FRQGXFW�UHYHDOHG�LQ�WKRVH�H�PDLOV���,W�ZDV�VLPSO\�

UHSRUWLQJ�D�PDWWHU�RI�SXEOLF�FRQFHUQ��PRUH�DV�LI�WR�QRWLI\�WKH�

VHFUHWDU\�RI�VWDWH
V�RIILFH�WKDW�SHRSOH�ZHUH�JRLQJ�GRRU�WR�

GRRU���

0U��%HDOO�WHVWLILHG�WKDW�WKH�SOD\ERRN�LQVWUXFWV�

SHRSOH�RQ�KRZ�WR�FDQYDVV��DQG�WKDW�ZDV�WKH�VRXUFH�RI�KLV�

FRQFHUQ���$V�,
YH�DOUHDG\�LQGLFDWHG��LW�GRHV�QRW��KRZHYHU���+H�

KDV�QRW�VHHQ�DQ\�WUDLQLQJ�PDWHULDOV�RI�86(,3���0U��%HDOO
V�

WHVWLPRQ\�UHYHDOHG�KH
V�FRQFHUQHG�DERXW�FDQYDVVLQJ�LQ�JHQHUDO��

PRUH�DORQJ�WKH�OLQHV�RI�D�VWDWLVWLFLDQ���+H�WKLQNV�LW�PXVW�EH�

VWDWLVWLFDOO\�UHOHYDQW�DQG�XWLOL]H�WUDGLWLRQDO�VXUYH\�

Case No. 1:22-cv-00581-CNS-NRN     Document 190     filed 07/30/24     USDC Colorado 
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WHFKQLTXHV���7KDW�LV�QRW�D�PDWWHU�IRU�WKLV�&RXUW�WR�GHWHUPLQH���

7KH�ULJKW�RI�FDQYDVVLQJ�LQ�WKLV�FRXQWU\�LV�ORQJ�DQG�WUXH��DQG�

FHUWDLQO\�GRHV�QRW�UHTXLUH�FDQYDVVLQJ�WR�KDYH�DQ\�VWDWLVWLFDO�

VLJQLILFDQFH�WR�LW��QRU�GRHV�LW�UHTXLUH�IRONV�WR�XVH�

SDUWLFXODU�PHWKRGV�WR�FDQYDVV���

,PSRUWDQWO\��KLV�WHVWLPRQ\�ZDV�WKDW�ZLWK�UHVSHFW�WR�

86(,3��DQG�E\�H[WHQVLRQ�WKHVH�WKUHH�GHIHQGDQWV��WKHUH�ZDV�QR�

HIIRUW�RI�YRWHU�LQWLPLGDWLRQ��EXW�VLPSO\�D�ULVN�RI�YRWHU�

LQWLPLGDWLRQ���7KLV�&RXUW�ZLOO�QRW�DFW�RQ�ULVNV�WKDW�KDYH�

SURYHQ�XQIRXQGHG���

0V��+HQGUL[�LV�WKH�H[HFXWLYH�GLUHFWRU�RI�RQH�RI�WKH�

SODLQWLIIV��WKH�/HDJXH�RI�:RPHQ�9RWHUV�RI�&RORUDGR���6KH�

WHVWLILHG�WKDW�VKH�KDV�QR�SHUVRQDO�NQRZOHGJH�RI�DQ\�YRWHU�ZKR�

IHOW�LQWLPLGDWHG�E\�WKH�GHIHQGDQWV�RU�86(,3
V�FDQYDVVLQJ�

HIIRUWV���+HU�RUJDQL]DWLRQ�GHFLGHG�WR�ILOH�WKLV�ODZVXLW�LQ�

ODUJH�SDUW�EDVHG�RQ�QXPHURXV�DUWLFOHV�DQG�PHGLD�UHSRUWV�RI�

YRWHU�LQWLPLGDWLRQ�E\�GHIHQGDQWV���

6RPH�RI�WKRVH�PHGLD�UHSRUWV�ZHUH�DGPLWWHG�LQWR�

HYLGHQFH�QRW�IRU�WKH�WUXWK�RI�WKH�FRPSODLQWV��EXW�WR�HVWDEOLVK�

ZK\�WKH�SODLQWLIIV�IHOW�WKH�QHHG�WR�ILOH�WKLV�DFWLRQ��VR�,�

FRQVLGHUHG�WKRVH�LQ�WKLV�FRQWH[W���$QG�ZKLOH�WKH\�PD\�KDYH�

VXSSRUWHG�D�QHHG�WR�ILOH�DQ�DFWLRQ��LW�LV�FHUWDLQO\�QRW�

VRPHWKLQJ�WKDW�,�FDQ�EDVH�D�ILQGLQJ�RI�OLDELOLW\�RQ�LQ�WKH�

VHQVH�WKDW�WKH�UHSRUWV�FRQWDLQHG�LQ�WKRVH�PHGLD�UHSRUWV�DUH�

KHDUVD\��DQG�WKH�DFWXDO�FRPSODLQDQWV�WKDW�WKH�QHZV�MRXUQDOLVWV�

Case No. 1:22-cv-00581-CNS-NRN     Document 190     filed 07/30/24     USDC Colorado 
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UHOLHG�RQ�GLG�QRW�FRPH�IRUZDUG�WR�RIIHU�DQ\�SDUWLFXODU�

WHVWLPRQ\��DQG�WKHUH�ZDV�QR�DELOLWLHV�RI�WKH�GHIHQGDQWV�WR�

FURVV�H[DPLQH�VXFK�ZLWQHVVHV���

7KHUH�ZDV�D�SDVVLQJ�UHIHUHQFH�WR�-HDQ�&ROHPDQ�,�

EHOLHYH�LQ�:HOG�&RXQW\�DV�VRPHERG\�ZKR�KDG�FRQWDFWHG�D�ERDUG�

PHPEHU�DQG�UHOD\HG�LQIRUPDWLRQ�DV�WR�LQWLPLGDWLRQ���+RZHYHU��

GHVSLWH�P\�EHOLHI�WKDW�GHIHQGDQWV�RSHQHG�WKH�GRRU�WR�VXFK�

WHVWLPRQ\�EHLQJ�DGPLWWHG��WKH�SODLQWLIIV�GLG�QRW�RIIHU�WKDW�

WHVWLPRQ\�LQWR�HYLGHQFH��VR�,�KDYH�QR�LGHD�ZKDW�0V��&ROHPDQ�

UHSRUWHG��DQG�,�FDQQRW�UHO\�RQ�WKDW�HLWKHU���6XUHO\�WKH�ERDUG�

PHPEHU�ZKR�VSRNH�WR�0V��&ROHPDQ�FRXOG�KDYH�EHHQ�FDOOHG�WR�

WHVWLI\��HYHQ�LI�0V��&ROHPDQ�GLG�QRW�ZLVK�WR�WHVWLI\���6R�ZLWK�

UHVSHFW�WR�DQ\�SRVVLEOH�HYLGHQFH�RIIHUHG�E\�0V��+HQGUL[�WR�

VXSSRUW�D�ILQGLQJ�RI�OLDELOLW\��WKH�&RXUW�ILQGV�WKHUH�ZDV�

QRQH���

6R�WKDW�ZRXOG�OHDYH�XV�ZLWK�0V��5REHUWV���7KH�&RXUW�

GHQLHG�GHIHQGDQWV
�PRWLRQ�IRU�VXPPDU\�MXGJPHQW�EDVHG�DOPRVW�

H[FOXVLYHO\�RQ�WKH�DIILGDYLW�SURYLGHG�E\�0V��5REHUWV�E\�

SODLQWLIIV�LQ�WKLV�DFWLRQ���<YHWWH�5REHUWV�LV�IURP�*UDQG�

-XQFWLRQ���7KH�&RXUW�ILQGV�QR�LOO�ZLOO�LQ�KHU�WHVWLPRQ\��DQG�

VKH�VHHPHG�WR�EH�GRLQJ�KHU�EHVW�WR�UHFDOO�WKH�HYHQWV�DV�VKH�

NQHZ�WKHP���+RZHYHU��KHU�WHVWLPRQ\�ZDV�ZKROO\�XQKHOSIXO�WR�WKH�

SODLQWLIIV���6KH�HVWDEOLVKHG�WKDW�WZR�SHRSOH�NQRFNHG�RQ�KHU�

GRRU�GXULQJ�WKH�PLGGOH�RI�WKH�GD\��RQH�EHLQJ�D�WDOO�PDQ���$V�

DQ�ROGHU�ZRPDQ�OLYLQJ�DORQH��VKH�ZDV�IHDUIXO�DQG��LQGHHG��D�
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ELW�LQWLPLGDWHG�ULJKW�RII�WKH�EDW�EHFDXVH�RI�WKH�WDOO�PDQ�ZKR�

ZDV�DW�KHU�GRRU���

+RZHYHU��WKH�WZR�SHRSOH�VLPSO\�LQWURGXFHG�WKHPVHOYHV�

DQG�WKH�JURXS�WKH\�UHSUHVHQWHG���7KH\�ZHUH�ZHDULQJ�VRPH�VRUW�

RI�EDGJH��DQG�EDGJH�,�VKRXOGQ
W�HYHQ�VD\���6RPH�VRUW�RI�QDPH�

WDJ�WKDW�VKH�GHVFULEHG�DV�DQ�LQIRUPDO�PDUNLQJ�SHUKDSV�IURP�

VRPHWKLQJ�\RX�PLJKW�JHW�DW�6WDSOHV�RI�D�QDPH�ODEHO�SHUKDSV�RQ�

D�ODQ\DUG�WKDW�VDLG�VRPHWKLQJ�OLNH�&RORUDGR�HOHFWLRQ�

LQWLPLGDWLRQ��LQWHUURJDWLRQ����VKH�ZDVQ
W�VXUH��EXW�VKH�NQHZ�

WKH�ILUVW�WZR�ZRUGV�ZHUH�&RORUDGR�HOHFWLRQ���7KH�WZR�

LQGLYLGXDOV��UHJDUGOHVV��HQJDJHG�LQ�QR�FRQGXFW�WKDW�FRXOG�EH�

REMHFWLYHO\�FRQVLGHUHG�LQWLPLGDWLQJ���

6KH�ZDV�DSSDUHQWO\�XQVXUH�LI�WKH\�ZHUH�FDUU\LQJ�YRWHU�

LQIRUPDWLRQ�IURP�WKH�VWDWH�RU�IURP�0HVD�&RXQW\���,Q�FRXUW�VKH�

LQGLFDWHG�VKH�EHOLHYHG�LW�ZDV�IURP�0HVD�&RXQW\��ZKLFK�ZRXOG�

VXSSRUW�WKH�QRWLRQ�WKDW�WKH�0HVD�&RXQW\�FDQYDVVHUV�WKDW�ZHUH�

XQDIILOLDWHG�ZLWK�WKH�86(,3�ZHUH�XVLQJ�0HVD�&RXQW\�YRWHU�UROOV�

WR�FDQYDVV���5HJDUGOHVV��WKH�TXHVWLRQV�DVNHG�RI�KHU�ZHUH�QRW�

LQWLPLGDWLQJ�DQG�QRW�LPSURSHU���:KHQ�VKH�DVNHG�WKHP�WR�OHDYH��

WKH\�OHIW�ZLWK�QR�WURXEOH�ZKDWVRHYHU���

+HU�VROH�UHJUHW�VHHPHG�WR�EH�KHU�RZQ�IDLOXUH�RI�

PHPRU\�WR�UHPHPEHU�WKHLU�QDPHV�RU�ZKDW�RUJDQL]DWLRQ�WKH\�ZHUH�

ZLWK��EXW�WKDW�VXUHO\�FDQQRW�EH�WKH�IDXOW�RI�WKH�FDQYDVVHUV�

ZKR�DFWXDOO\�LQWURGXFHG�WKHPVHOYHV�DQG�WKH�RUJDQL]DWLRQ�ZLWK�

ZKRP�WKH\�ZHUH�ZLWK���6KH�KDG�QR�EDVLV�RU�UHDVRQ�WR�FRQFOXGH�

Case No. 1:22-cv-00581-CNS-NRN     Document 190     filed 07/30/24     USDC Colorado 
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WKDW�WKHVH�WZR�ZHUH�IURP�86(,3�DQG��LQ�IDFW��GLG�QRW�NQRZ�IURP�

ZKLFK�JURXS�WKH\�KDLOHG���

,W�ZDV�XSRQ�VXJJHVWLRQ�DSSDUHQWO\�IURP�SODLQWLIIV
�

FRXQVHO�WKDW�86(,3�ZDV�WKH�JURXS�FDQYDVVLQJ�LQ�KHU�FRXQW\�WKDW�

VKH�JRW����DW�ZKLFK�SRLQW�VKH�DGRSWHG�WKDW�SRVLWLRQ�DQG�

LQFOXGHG�LW�LQ�KHU�DIILGDYLW���7KH�ODZ��KRZHYHU��UHTXLUHV�PXFK�

PRUH�WKDQ�WKLV���:H�FDQQRW�DFW�XSRQ�D�VXJJHVWLRQ�IURP�FRXQVHO�

DV�WR�DFWXDO�HYLGHQFH�LQ�D�FDVH���

0V��5REHUWV��UHJDUGOHVV��HYHQ�LI�WKHVH�IRONV�ZHUH�

IURP�86(,3��WHVWLILHG�WKDW�VKH�GLG�QRW�VXIIHU�DQ\�WKUHDWV�RI�

YLROHQFH��WKUHDWHQLQJ�SKRQH�FDOOV��YDQGDOLVP�GXULQJ�RU�DIWHU�

WKH�HYHQW��DQG�WKDW�WKH�VLQJOH�FDQYDVVLQJ�HYHQW�ZRXOG�QRW�

DIIHFW�KHU�GHFLVLRQ�WR�YRWH�LQ�IXWXUH�HOHFWLRQV���

6R�ZLWK�WKDW��WKH�&RXUW�ILQGV�WKDW�WKHUH�LV�VLPSO\�

LQVXIILFLHQW�HYLGHQFH�WR�SURFHHG�DQ\�IXUWKHU�LQ�WKLV�PDWWHU���

1RUPDOO\�,�ZRXOG�KDYH�UHYLHZHG�P\�SULRU�FRQFOXVLRQV�RQ�

VWDQGLQJ�DV�SDUW�RI�WKLV�DQDO\VLV��EXW�,�ILQG�QR�QHHG�WR�GR�

WKDW���7KH�FRQFOXVLRQV�RI�WKLV�&RXUW�ZRXOG�OLNHO\�KDYH�

UHPDLQHG�WKH�VDPH�RQ�WKDW�LVVXH���%XW�VLQFH�WKH�LVVXH�RI�

OLDELOLW\�ZDV�WHHG�XS�WKURXJK�WKHVH�ZLWQHVVHV��WKH�&RXUW�IHOW�

LW�ZDV�DSSURSULDWH�WR�HQWHUWDLQ�D�5XOH����F��PRWLRQ�RQ�WKH�

LVVXH�RI�YRWHU�LQWLPLGDWLRQ�LWVHOI�LQ�WKH�LQWHUHVW�RI�MXGLFLDO�

HFRQRP\���

,Q�VXP��SODLQWLIIV�KDYH�IDLOHG�WR�LQWURGXFH�DQ\�

HYLGHQFH�WKDW�FDQ�UHPRWHO\�EH�SHUFHLYHG�DV�LQWLPLGDWLQJ�RU�
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WKUHDWHQLQJ�RQ�EHKDOI�RI�WKH�WKUHH�GHIHQGDQWV���7KHUH
V�QR�

HYLGHQFH�WKDW�DQ\�GHIHQGDQW�RU�HYHQ�DQ�DJHQW�RI�86(,3�HQJDJHG�

LQ�FDQYDVVLQJ�WKDW�REMHFWLYHO\�FRXOG�ULVH�WR�WKH�OHYHO�RI�

YRWHU�LQWLPLGDWLRQ���7KH�SOD\ERRN��ZKLFK�KDV�EHHQ�GLVFXVVHG�

H[WHQVLYHO\��LV�DOVR�QRW�REMHFWLYHO\�LQWLPLGDWLQJ���

7KH�WLPLQJ�RI�WKH�DOOHJHG�FDQYDVVLQJ�HIIRUWV�LV�

LPSRUWDQW�WR�WKH�&RXUW
V�DQDO\VLV��DOWKRXJK�QRW�GLVFXVVHG�PXFK�

E\�WKH�SDUWLHV���7KH�FDQYDVVLQJ�HIIRUWV�ZHUH�DIWHU�WKH�

HOHFWLRQ�DQG�ZHOO�LQ�DGYDQFH�RI�WKH�QH[W�HOHFWLRQ���7KHUH�ZDV�

QR�LQGLFDWLRQ�RU�HYLGHQFH�RIIHUHG�WKDW�DQ\�RI�WKH�FDQYDVVLQJ�

DWWHPSWHG�WR�DVVHVV�D�YRWHU
V�LQWHQWLRQ�WR�YRWH�LQ�WKH�QH[W�

HOHFWLRQ�RU�HYHQ�GLVFXVVHG�DQ�XSFRPLQJ�HOHFWLRQ���7KH�

TXHVWLRQV�FRQFHUQHG�WKH�SULRU�HOHFWLRQ��DQG�LQ�WKLV�FRQWH[W��

WKH�HYLGHQFH�ZRXOG�EH�UHTXLUHG�WR�VKRZ�DQ�LQWHQW�WR�LQWHUIHUH�

ZLWK�WKH�ULJKW�WR�YRWH�LQ�D�PXFK�PRUH�VLJQLILFDQW�ZD\��DQG�QR�

VXFK�HYLGHQFH�ZDV�SUHVHQWHG���

3ODLQWLIIV�KDYH�PDGH�PXFK�RI�WKH�IDFW�WKDW�

SKRWRJUDSKV�ZHUH�DOOHJHGO\�WDNHQ�RI�VRPH�UHVLGHQFHV���7KHUH�

ZDV�QR�UHDO�HYLGHQFH�RI�WKLV��EXW�UHJDUGOHVV��HYHQ�LI�WUXH��

WKDW�ZRXOG�QRW�ULVH�WR�WKH�OHYHO�RI�VXUYHLOODQFH�WKDW�KDV�EHHQ�

IRXQG�WR�VXSSRUW�D�FODLP�IRU�YRWHU�LQWLPLGDWLRQ���6XFK�SKRWRV�

DUH�DYDLODEOH�RQ�*RRJOH�PDSV��DQG�WKHUH
V�QR�HYLGHQFH�

SUHVHQWHG�LQ�WKLV�FDVH�WKDW�DQ\�YRWHU�KDG�VXFK�DFWLRQV�WDNHQ�

DJDLQVW�WKHP�RU�WKDW�WKH\�IRXQG�WKDW�DFWLRQ�WR�EH�

LQWLPLGDWLQJ���

Case No. 1:22-cv-00581-CNS-NRN     Document 190     filed 07/30/24     USDC Colorado 
pg 15 of 18

Appellate Case: 24-1328     Document: 42     Date Filed: 11/07/2024     Page: 95 



�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

%HQFK�7ULDO���'D\�����FY�������&16�151

6DUDK�.��0LWFKHOO��535��&55

����������������

6HQVLQJ�D�ODFN�RI�HYLGHQFH�WR�VXSSRUW�WKHLU�FODLPV��

SODLQWLIIV�DWWHPSWHG�WR�EURDGHQ�WKH�WKHRU\�RI�WKH�FDVH�

PLGVWUHDP���,�GLG�QRW�DOORZ�WKDW���7KH�SUHWULDO�RUGHU�FRQWUROV�

WKH�FODLPV�EURXJKW�LQ�D�FDVH��DQG�WKDW�FODLP�ZDV�QRW�DUJXHG�

WKDW�ZD\�RU�DVVHUWHG�WKDW�ZD\�LQ�WKH�SUHWULDO�RUGHU���(YHQ�LI�

LW�ZDV��WKDW�ZRXOG�QRW�KDYH�FRPPDQGHG�D�GLIIHUHQW�UHVXOW��DV�

WKHUH�ZDV�VLPSO\�QR�HYLGHQFH�RI�VXIILFLHQW�YRWHU�LQWLPLGDWLRQ�

KHUH���

,�ZLOO�DGG�WKDW�,�IRXQG�3URIHVVRU�(OOLV
V�WHVWLPRQ\�

KHOSIXO�DQG�LQVLJKWIXO�DV�WR�WKH�DEVWUDFW�LVVXH�RI�YRWHU�

LQWLPLGDWLRQ���7KH�&RXUW�KDV�QR�GRXEW�WKDW�LQGLUHFW�YRWHU�

LQWLPLGDWLRQ�HIIRUWV�DV�GHVFULEHG�E\�WKH�SURIHVVRU�KDYH�

RFFXUUHG�LQ�WKLV�FRXQWU\�DQG�FRQWLQXH�WR�RFFXU�LQ�WKLV�

FRXQWU\���<HW��WKH�&RXUW�FDQQRW�LQIHU�WKDW�WKHVH�GHIHQGDQWV�

DUH�SDUW�RI�WKDW�HIIRUW�ZLWKRXW�FUHGLEOH�HYLGHQFH�HVWDEOLVKLQJ�

WKDW�FRQQHFWLRQ���

7KH�DOOHJHG�DFWLRQV�KHUH�DUH�QRWKLQJ�OLNH�WKH�FDVHV�

UHIHUUHG�WR�E\�3URIHVVRU�(OOLV�RU�SODLQWLIIV�LQ�DQ\�RI�WKHLU�

EULHIV���,�ZLOO�VLPSO\�QRWH�D�FRXSOH�RI�WKRVH���7KLV�LV�QRW�

DNLQ�WR�IROORZLQJ�1DWLYH�$PHULFDQ�YRWHUV�LQWR�SROOLQJ�SODFHV�

RU�UHFRUGLQJ�OLFHQVH�SODWH�QXPEHUV�RI�WKRVH�ZKR�YRWHG���,W�LV�

VLPLODUO\�QRW�WKUHDWHQLQJ�SKRQH�FDOOV�RU�DVVHUWLQJ�HFRQRPLF�

UHWDOLDWLRQ�RYHU�IRONV���,W�LV�QRW�EORFNLQJ�SHRSOH�IURP�WKHLU�

SROOLQJ�VWDWLRQV���$QG�LW�LV�DOVR�QRW�LQGLFDWLQJ�WKDW�WKH�

EDOORW�GURS�ER[�LV�XQGHU�DQ\�W\SH�RI�VXUYHLOODQFH�DQG�IUDXG�
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ZLOO�UHVXOW�LQ�FULPHV�EHLQJ�SXUVXHG���7KLV�LV�VLPSO\�IDU�WRR�

UHPRWH�ZLWKRXW�DQ\�WHVWLPRQ\�RI�DQ\�YRWHU�ZKR�IRXQG�DQ\�RI�

WKHVH�HIIRUWV�WR�EH�LQWLPLGDWLQJ���

$V�D�UHVXOW��WKH�&RXUW�ILQGV�WKDW�SODLQWLIIV�KDYH�

IDLOHG�WR�VKRZ�DQ\�YLRODWLRQ�RI�6HFWLRQ����E��RU�6HFWLRQ�

��������E\�DQ\�RI�WKH�QDPHG�GHIHQGDQWV�LQ�WKLV�FDVH��DQG�

MXGJPHQW�VKDOO�HQWHU�LQ�IDYRU�RI�WKH�GHIHQGDQWV���

:LWK�WKDW��,�ZLOO�WKDQN�FRXQVHO�IRU�WKHLU�

SURIHVVLRQDOLVP��DQG�ZH�ZLOO�EH�LQ�UHFHVV���

7+(�&28575220�'(387<���$OO�ULVH���&RXUW�LV�LQ�UHFHVV���

�7KH�SURFHHGLQJV�ZHUH�FRQFOXGHG�DW������D�P���
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